# Exploring Individuals' Experiences of Body Modification and Self-Harm: Is There a Relationship?

Taryn Talbott

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Staffordshire University for the degree of Doctorate in Clinical Psychology

August 2019

Total word count: 18,134

# THESIS PORTFOLIO: CANDIDATE DECLARATION

Title of degree programme	Professional Doctorate in Clinical Psychology			
Candidate name	Taryn Talbott			
Registration number	16025083			
Initial date of registration	September 2016			

## Declaration and signature of candidate

I confirm that the thesis submitted is the outcome of work that I have undertaken during my programme of study, and except where explicitly stated, it is all my own work.

I confirm that the decision to submit this thesis is my own.

I confirm that except where explicitly stated, the work has not been submitted for another academic award.

I confirm that the work has been conducted ethically and that I have maintained the anonymity of research participants at all times within the thesis.

Signed:

Date:

## Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the women who participated in this study. Thank you for being so open and honest, and for taking the time to share your stories with me. I would also like to thank all the people who were interested in participating but were not able to.

Thank you to my academic supervisor, Dr Helena Priest, for the support and guidance you have provided for me throughout this project. The knowledge and expertise you have shared have been invaluable to me whilst navigating a new research approach and analysis method.

To my family and friends, thank you for all your support throughout my career, but particularly during the last few years. Thank you for keeping in touch when circumstances and geography have kept us apart. I hope I will be able to see more of you soon.

Special thanks to Sam Harding and Beth Jones for taking the time out of your busy schedules to proof-read the final drafts of the empirical paper and give me very helpful feedback.

Thank you to all at Trentham Running Club and Hanley ('Big Stoke') parkrun for reminding me that there is a life outside of The Course and The Thesis. Thank you for helping me maintain a work-life balance and helping me keep things in perspective. Thanks for welcoming me to Stoke so warmly and showing me all the best bits. I truly feel like an honorary Stokie. I will miss you, hopefully we'll bump into each other at races in the future.

To all at White Star Running, thank you for reminding me not to take life too seriously and for helping me prove to myself that I am capable of so much more than I thought. The long runs, and the super long drives to get to you, were totally worth it and offered great opportunities for reflection.

Finally, thank you to my cohort. I have learnt so much from all of you. You are the only people who truly understand this journey we've been on and I'm so glad I got to experience it with you. Thank you for the help, support and hugs throughout the course. I hope we are able to stay in touch.

Abstract7
Paper one: Literature Review8
Abstract9
Practitioner Points
Introduction11
Background11
Method15
Search Strategy15
Inclusion and Exclusion criteria16
Search Results17
Overview of Studies17
Aims, Participants and Settings19
Description of Studies and Findings19
Critical Appraisal Process22
Methodological Quality23
Findings
Associations Between Body Modifications and Mental Health26
Associations Between Number of Body Modifications and Mental Health27
Associations Between Body Modifications and Past Abuse
Associations of Body Modifications with Risk Behaviours
Discussion29
Strengths and Limitations
Implications and Conclusions31
Conclusion
Clinical Implications
Future Studies
References
Appendices45
Appendix A: Author Guidelines for the British Journal of Clinical Psychology45
Appendix B: Table of Study Characteristics and Main Findings50
Appendix C: Table of Participant Characteristics57
Appendix D: Crowe Critical Appraisal Tool v1.4 (Crowe, 2013)59

# Table of Contents

Paper two: Empirical Paper	62
Abstract	63
Highlights	63
Introduction	64
Body Modification	64
Self-Harm	64
Functions of Self-Harm	66
Recommendations for Alternatives to Self-Harm	66
Motivations for Obtaining Body Modifications	66
Relationships between Body Modifications and Mental Health	67
Relationships between Body Modifications and Self-Harm	68
Aims	68
Research Questions	69
Method	69
Recruitment	69
Participants	71
Study Design	72
Procedure	73
Data Analysis	73
Reflexivity	74
Findings	75
Coping Strategies	76
Body Modification as Protective	79
Discussion	82
Implications	83
Limitations	
Recommendations for Further Research	87
References	
Appendices	97
Appendix A: Journal Guidelines	97
Appendix B: Ethical Approval Letter	114
Appendix C: Interview Schedule	115
Appendix D: Cover Letter for Mental Health Support Charities	116
Appendix E: Cover Letter for Body Modification Organisations	117
Appendix F: Recruitment Poster	118
Appendix G: List of Organisations Contacted for Recruitment	

Appendix H: Information	Sheet	
Appendix I: Protocol for F Version for Instant Messa	Responding to Participant Distres	s (Kasket, 2009a). Adapted 124
Appendix J: Protocol for I Version for Telephone/S	Responding to Participant Distres	ss (Kasket, 2009b). Adapted 126
Appendix K: Consent For	n	
Appendix L: Debrief Shee	t	
Appendix M: Table show participants	ng demographic and descriptive	information about the 130
Appendix N: Evidence of	Analysis Process	
Appendix O: List of Super	ordinate and Sub-Ordinate Then	nes133
Paper three: Executive Sum	nmary	

# List of Tables and Figures

# Literature Review

Table 1: Critical appraisal scores for the reviewed studies, using CCAT (Crowe,	2013)24
Table 2: Study Characteristics	56
Table 3: Participant Characteristics	58

# List of Tables and Figures

# **Empirical Paper**

Table 1: Demographic and descriptive information about the participants	130
Table 2: Theme table showing superordinate and subordinate themes, and the partici	pants
that contributed to each theme	72

# Abstract

Paper one is a narrative literature review of nine studies. It reviews the current evidence base regarding what is known about the relationship between body modification and mental health. Four main categories were reported: associations between body modifications and mental health; associations between number of body modifications and mental health; associations between body modifications and past abuse; and associations of body modifications with risk behaviours. The findings of these studies were mixed. All included studies had some methodological flaws but were regarded as of fair to good quality. All reviewed studies were crosssectional making it impossible to determine the direction of the relationship between body modifications and mental health.

Paper two is an empirical study which explored the experiences of body modification in eight UK women with experience of self-harm behaviours. There are similarities between these behaviours, but associations between them has received little attention in the literature to date. Interviews were conducted using instant messaging services and telephone. Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis was used to identify two superordinate themes linking body modifications and selfharm behaviours: Coping Strategies and Body Modifications as Protective. The findings are discussed, along with clinical implications, limitations and suggestions for further research in this area.

Paper three is an executive summary. This has been written as an accessible document intended for dissemination of the findings to the general population. The research method, findings, clinical implications and suggestions for further research have been summarised within this report.

Paper one: Literature Review

# What is Known About the Relationship Between Body Modification and Mental Health? A Review of the Literature.

This paper has been broadly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the British Journal of Clinical Psychology .

Author Guidelines are listed in Appendix A.

Word Count: 7,276

## Abstract

#### **Objectives**

This review updates and extends an earlier review of the relationship between mental health and piercings (Bui, Rodgers, Cailhol, Birmes, Chabrol, and Schmitt, 2010) by including other forms of body modification. It aims to establish 'what is known about the relationship between body modification and mental health?'

#### <u>Methods</u>

This narrative literature review systematically identified papers exploring the relationship between body modifications (tattoos and non-earlobe body piercings) and mental health. EBSCO host was used to search the Healthsciences databases (Medline, CINAHL and SPORTDiscus) and the Psychology and Sociology databases (PsycINFO, PsychARTICLES, CINAHL and the eBook Collection) to identify relevant literature using the search terms "body modification" OR "tattoo" OR "piercing" OR "implant" AND "mental health".

#### <u>Results</u>

Nine articles were reviewed. The findings indicate mixed results regarding a relationship between body modifications and mental health, and between body modifications and risk behaviours. Although not all studies reported the number of body modifications, the reviewed studies suggested a link between increasing numbers of body modifications and likelihood of experiencing mental health difficulties. The included studies indicate an association between historical experiences of abuse and body modifications, suggesting that this may be a mediating factor in the relationship between body modifications and mental health.

#### Conclusions

The small number of studies included in this review had variable methodological quality. The findings considering the relationship between body modification and mental health are mixed. Clinical implications are included. Limitations of this review are discussed and suggestions for further research are made.

# **Practitioner Points**

- Clinicians should be aware of the association between body modifications and past abuse.
- A high number of body modifications may indicate mental health distress.
- Body modifications can have a positive impact on mental health.

# **Limitations**

- This review included a small number of studies.
- Articles not written in English were excluded.
- Assessment of methodological quality was completed by one reviewer.

# Introduction

## Background

#### Mental Health

The World Health Organisation (2014) defines mental health as "a state of wellbeing in which every individual realises his or her own potential, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to her or his community." The American Psychiatric Association (2015) defines mental illness as a change in "thinking, emotion or behaviour (or a combination of these)" that is associated with "distress and/or problems functioning in social, work or family activities."

The 2014 Health Survey for England (Bridges, 2014) found that 26% of adults reported having ever been diagnosed with at least one mental health problem. Women were more likely than men to report ever having been diagnosed with a mental health problem (33% compared with 19%).

The Mental Health Foundation (2016) report that mental health problems are one of the main causes of the overall disease burden worldwide. The most common mental health problem worldwide is depression, followed by anxiety, schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Although measuring the prevalence of mental health problems is challenging for a number of reasons, the most reliable data for trends and prevalence of many different mental health problems in the UK is provided by the Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey (AMPS, McManus, Bebbington & Jenkins, 2016). The APMS reports that nearly half (43.4%) of adults think that they have had a diagnosable mental health condition at some point in their lives. 19.5% of men and 33.7% of women have had diagnoses confirmed by professionals, while 36.2% of people who self-identified as having a mental health problem have never received a diagnosis from a professional. The Office of National Statistics (Randall, Corp, & Self, 2014) report that 19.7% of people in the UK (aged 16 and older) showed symptoms of anxiety or depression as measured by the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12).

#### **Body Modification**

Body modification (BM) is defined as "the (semi-) permanent, deliberate alteration of the human body" (Wohlrab, Stahl, & Kappeler, 2007. p.87), and includes piercings (other than the earlobe, following Bone et al. (2008)), tattoos, sub-dermal implants and scarification. A piercing is defined as "an opening in any part of the body (except the earlobes) through which jewellery might be worn." (Bone et al., 2008, p. 2). Tiggemann and Golder (2006) define tattooing as "the insertion of coloured pigment into the dermal layer through a series of punctures in the skin in order to create a permanent marking" (p. 245)

Bone et al. (2008) conducted a survey of 10,503 members of the general adult population in England and estimated the prevalence of body piercing, other than the earlobes, to be 10% (1049 people, 95% CI: 9.4-10.6%). Body piercing was more common in women and in younger age groups. 305 of the 659 women aged 16-24 surveyed reported having a piercing (46.2%, 95% CI: 42.0-50.5%). Laumann & Derick (2006) conducted telephone interviews with participants across the United States. They found that 120 of the 500 respondents (24%) reported having a tattoo. 176 respondents (35%) reported having had piercings, including soft ear lobe piercings. 104 of those with piercings (59%) had only had soft ear lobe piercings. 72 (14%) of all respondents had ever had a non-soft ear lobe piercing (body piercing).

Previous work conducted examining motivations for engaging in BM has found that the two most commonly given reasons in a questionnaire completed by college students in the USA were 'to express myself' and 'to be an individual' (Hill, Ogletree, & McCrary, 2016). In a study conducted in Turkey, Atik and Yildirim (2014) found that the motivations for getting tattoos were focused in the area of desire for self-expression. Pentina and Spears (2011) found that the motivations for getting a tattoo amongst US college students can be based on the significance of the meaning of the tattoo design for the individual, including cultural symbolism and memorialising people and events. Stirn (2003) completed a review of psychological motivations for obtaining body piercings. She found a variety of motivations including provocation by violating socially defined beauty standards, peer pressure, a rite of passage, fashion, a way to denote individuality or to commemorate both positive and negative experiences. She also states that body piercing can be seen as therapeutic as the procedure is followed by a period of self-care, which forces the individual to be concerned with their body and themselves during the healing process.

Historical documents show the presence of piercings (Ferguson, 1999) and tattoos (Goldstein & Sewell, 1979) in various cultures. The main motivations in non-western societies are reported to be associated with ritual initiation, rites of passage and sexuality (Stirn, 2003) or status within the group (Goldstein & Sewell, 1979). As this differs a great deal from the motivations for obtaining body modifications in western societies, work focusing on body modification in non-western societies will not be the focus of this review.

#### Relationships Between Mental Health and Body Modification

The existing literature has found some evidence of a relationship between mental health and body modifications (BMs). Tattoos have been found to be more common in people who have psychiatric problems and come into contact with mental health services (Vivek, Verghese, & Harvey, 2010). Williams (1998) reports that of the 96 acute adult psychiatric admissions to a mental health hospital in south west England in a three-month period, seven per cent of patients had multiple pierced ears, three per cent had piercings in other areas of their bodies and 16% had tattoos.

Tattooing is significantly correlated with poorer levels of self-rated mental health in members of the German population (aged 14-93; Stirn, Hinz, & Brähler, 2006). However, interviews with members of the British public revealed that BMs were generally not perceived as a form of self-harm (Newton & Bale, 2012).

Non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) is associated with mental health disorders such as depression or anxiety. It is differentiated from BMs because of the socially accepted nature of BMs such as tattoos or piercings (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Self-harm has been found to be associated with an increased risk of suicide (Zahl & Hawton, 2004; Cooper et al., 2005). BM has been found to be associated with a higher incidence of previous suicide ideation and attempted suicide in a sample of

13

individuals recruited from a BM website. This relationship was mediated by a history of self-reported depression (Julie Hicinbothem, Gonsalves, & Lester, 2006).

Bui et al. (2010) conducted a systematic review examining the relationship between body piercing and psychopathology. They reviewed 23 studies published between 1995 and 2007. The included studies had a range of sample sizes (40-7,548). Participants ranged in age from 12 to 71 years and were drawn from a variety of populations. Their review considered high-risk behaviours, personality traits and psychopathological symptoms in relation to body piercings. They report that a number of studies point to a possible relationship with self-reported psychopathological symptoms. They report non-significant relationships between body piercing and eating disorders in the two studies that investigated this association, and reported the findings relating to the association between body piercing and depressive symptoms, suicide ideation and suicide attempts were "less consistent" as some studies found significant results whereas others reported nonsignificant relationships.

#### Rationale for Review

The existing research has identified some relationships between mental health and BMs. The current literature focuses on psychiatric populations, which may differ from the general population, or the perceptions of the mental health of people with BMs. However, only one systematic review in this area has been identified (Bui et al, 2010). This review focuses on the relationship between mental health and piercings only, it does not consider other forms of body modification such as tattooing.

Therefore, the current review updates and extends upon Bui's review by including other forms of body modification. It aims to establish 'What is known about the relationship between body modification and mental health?'

# Method

## Search Strategy

The search for this review was completed in May 2018. EBSCO host was used to search the Healthsciences databases (Medline, CINAHL and SPORTDiscus) and the Psychology and Sociology databases (PsycINFO, PsychARTICLES, CINAHL and the eBook Collection) to identify literature relevant to the research question. The relevance of the identified literature was assessed through a three-stage screening process. Initially, the titles were examined, then the abstracts were scrutinised, followed by consideration of the full text. Articles that met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were included for review.

Initially, no start date was identified for papers to be included. However, during the course of the review a systematic review of the literature in this area was identified (Bui et al., 2010). It was expected that any relevant papers published prior to the date Bui et al. completed their search would have been included in their review and would therefore not provide any additional information for this review. However, as it can take time for an article to be published following data collection, it was decided to include papers published in or after 2007 as this was the publication date of the most recent article included in Bui et al.'s review. None of the studies in Bui et al's review were included in the current review.

No limits of research methodology used were set. Articles were limited to those from Western countries (Western Europe, USA, Australia and New Zealand) as BMs have different meanings in different cultures (Dieter-Wolf & Diaz-Granados, 2013). Articles were restricted to those with adult participants (aged 18 years and older) due to the legality of obtaining tattoos prior to this age (Tattooing of Minors Act, 1969). Whilst it is legal in the UK to obtain piercings before the age of 16 (Chartered Institute of Environmental Health, 2013), parental consent may be required which could influence the results obtained.

Previous knowledge of the literature had identified articles concerning forms of BM that were outside the scope of this review, such as cosmetic surgery. The search terms included 'implant' as articles concerning subdermal implants as a form of BM

met the criteria for inclusion. However, earlier scoping searches with this term had returned many articles that were not relevant as they concerned devices implanted for medical reasons, such as cochlear implants. As a result, these terms were excluded using the Boolean operator 'NOT'.

The search criteria applied were:

- "body modification" OR "tattoo" OR "piercing" OR "implant"
- AND "mental health"
- NOT "cosmetic surgery" NOT "cochlear" NOT "breast" NOT "naltrexone" NOT "contraceptive" NOT "prosthes?" NOT "dental" NOT "peni?"

# Inclusion and Exclusion criteria

The following inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied to the search results.

Inclusion criteria:

- A focus on mental health conditions, body modifications and the interaction between these
- Participants are adults
- Studies are conducted in countries with a Western culture
- Articles are peer reviewed

# Exclusion criteria:

- Articles published before 2007
- Articles published in a language other than English
- Articles with a medical perspective of mental health and body modifications
- A focus on others' perceptions of people with body modifications
- A focus on reasons for removing body modifications

Mental Health was defined as a specified mental health condition, including: depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, eating disorders, and self-

harm. The definitions of 'Body modification' (Wohlrab et al., 2007;) and tattooing (Tiggemann and Golder; 2006), as stated in the introduction, were used.

The search terms above were entered into EBSCOhost. Duplicate records were removed from the search results. Initially, the titles of the items returned in the search were examined and articles that were not relevant to this review, for example those that did not focus on mental health or BM, were removed. Following this the abstracts for the remaining articles were read to obtain further detail about what the article covered. Articles that did not meet the inclusion and exclusion criteria were removed. For a number of articles, it was unclear from the abstract whether they met the inclusion and exclusion criteria. These articles were read as full text articles. Articles that met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were included in the review.

Although Bui et al's (2010) review met the criteria it was not included in this review as it did not contain sufficient information to assess the methodological quality. It was published in the form of a letter to the editor of *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*. The author was unable to obtain a copy of the full report containing more detail in order to review it appropriately.

Figure 1 outlines the process of selecting the articles for inclusion in the review.

## Search Results

The author obtained the full-text of all articles. Nine studies were reviewed. An overview of the studies and their main findings, relevant to the aim of this review, is included in table 2 (appendix B). Table 3 (appendix C) provides a summary of the characteristics of the participants of each study. The studies are discussed in more detail and their findings are synthesised in the following sections.

## **Overview of Studies**

Nine studies met the inclusion criteria for this review. All were cross-sectional questionnaire based studies and used a quasi-experimental design. Participants were divided into groups based on the presence or absence of BMs. Aizenman and Jensen (2007), Cardasis, Huth-Bocks, and Silk (2008), Giles-Gorniak, Vandehey, and Stiles (2016), Iannaccone, Cella, Manzi, Visconti, Manzi, and Cotrufo (2013) and Pajor, Broniarczyk-Dyla, and Switalska (2015) compared individuals with BMs to those without BMs on a variety of factors, including current and past mental health, and motivations for obtaining body modifications or engaging in self-injurious behaviours.



## Figure 1: Flow diagram illustrating selection procedure for papers.

All participants in Stirn and Hinz's (2008) study reported BMs. They found 27% of their sample reported self-cutting in the past. They therefore examined the differences between this group and those who did not report self-cutting. The other three studies (Bui, Rodgers, Simon, Jehel, Metcalf, Birmes, and Schmitt 2013; Koch, Roberts, Armstrong, and Owen, 2015; Owen, Armstrong, Koch, and Roberts, 2013) further categorised people with BMs into groups depending on the number of BMs they have, or the type of BM (i.e. tattoo(s) or piercing(s)). All the crosssectional studies used quantitative methods to analyse their results and identify differences between the groups.

## Aims, Participants and Settings

The aims of the studies varied but all examined the relationship between BMs and mental health. All stated their aims clearly and provided an appropriate rationale for conducting the study.

The number of participants in each study ranged from 23 (Cardasis et al., 2008) to 2,394 (Koch et al., 2015). Participants were recruited from a variety of settings, including a forensic psychiatric facility; an eating disorders treatment clinic; specialist BM magazines, festivals and shops; and universities. Where studies included a mixture of male and female participants, this was balanced or had a higher proportion of females in six out of seven studies (two studies only included participants of one gender). The mean age of participants in all studies was below 35 years, although participant ages ranged from 15 to 66 years.

## Description of Studies and Findings

A brief overview of the studies included in this review and their findings is provided, before consideration of the methodological quality of these studies. Studies have been grouped based on the population the sample was drawn from in order to allow for comparisons of the methods used and results found.

#### Clinical Populations

Two studies (Cardasis et al., 2008; and Iannaccone et al., 2013) examined BMs in clinical populations. The relationship between tattoos and Anti-Social Personality Disorder (ASPD) in a population of men aged 20-59 in a forensic psychiatric facility in the USA was investigated by Cardasis et al. (2008). They examined the number of tattoos, as well as the percentage of body surface area covered by tattoos and found that those with tattoos were more likely to have a diagnosis of ASPD than those without tattoos. Those with a diagnosis of ASPD were also more likely to have tattoos. A trend was found towards having tattoos cover a greater percentage of their body and having tattoos in more visible locations such as the hands, head and neck. No differences on a number of demographic measures or whether the tattoos were done professionally were found between tattooed and non-tattooed groups.

Those with tattoos were significantly more likely to have a history of substance abuse, sexual abuse and suicide.

Iannaccone et al. (2013) examined the relationship between self-injurious behaviours and BM practices (tattooing and non-earlobe body piercing) in females aged 15-55 with eating disorders receiving treatment at a specialised eating disorders unit in Italy. They found that those who reported only BM practices showed more positive feelings towards their bodies, higher levels of self-esteem, less impulsivity, depression and anxiety, and lower levels of social dysfunction than those reporting only self-injury or both self-injury and BMs.

#### Student Populations

Three studies drew their samples from student populations (Aizenman & Jensen, 2007; Koch et al., 2015; and Owen et al., 2013). Aizenman & Jensen (2007) investigated the incidence, characteristics and age of onset of body altering behaviours among a sample of college students aged 17-39 (82% female) in the USA to identify similarities or differences in the motivations and feelings of those choosing socially acceptable forms of BM (piercing and tattooing) and those who self-injure. They found no difference in the percentages of men and women who reported engaging in self-injurious behaviours. In contrast, women reported piercing and tattooing in significantly higher percentages than men. They reported a high incidence of self-injurious behaviour that began in early adolescence. Those who reported piercing and tattooing reported starting this later. The motivations for self-injurious behaviour more often had emotional connections whereas those who tattooed or pierced reported motivations related to creativity or individuation. A significantly higher proportion of those who self-injured reported a history of eating disorders or abuse than those that did not.

In their study examining whether body art can be viewed as well-being or a highrisk behaviour in college students, Owen et al. (2013) surveyed undergraduate college students enrolled in a sociology course in the South West United States (mean age 19.5 years, 58% of the sample was female). They identified three consistent self-identity outcomes for body art (expressing oneself, feeling unique, and being myself). Participants who had one tattoo and less than four piercings reported levels of well-being similar to those with no body art. However, participants with four or more tattoos, seven or more piercings, and/or intimate (nipple, genital, or both) piercings described higher risk behaviours and emotional distress.

Tattoos, gender and well-being were studied in a large sample (n=2394) of American college students by Koch et al. (2015). 82% of participants were age 18-20 years and 59% of the sample was female. Their results indicate a four-fold higher level of reported suicide attempts among females with four or more tattoos as compared with those with three or less, or no tattoos. They also report a statistically significant elevation in self-esteem in the same group. No other findings or comparisons were found to be statistically significant.

## Young Adults

Bui et al. (2013) compared Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) symptoms in French-speaking young adults (aged 19-35) with no, one, or two or more body piercings and found that these factors do seem to be related. They suggest that 2 or more piercings may serve as an identifiable marker for PTSD symptoms.

## Body Modification Community

Three studies (Giles-Gorniak et al., 2016; Pajor et al., 2015; and Stirn & Hinz, 2008) drew their samples from the BM community. Stirn and Hinz (2008) investigated the motives for obtaining BMs (tattoos or non-earlobe piercings) in a sample of readers of a specialist BM magazine in Germany. The respondents' ages ranged from 18 to 63, and 50.3% of respondents were male. A high proportion of their sample (27%) reported self-cutting during childhood, so they examined the possible relationship between this and BMs. They found those who have a history of self-cutting practice BMs more often than the general population. Those with a history of self-cutting reported having experienced violence, pain, and 'bad things' significantly more often than those without a history of self-cutting, and reported difficulty coping with aggression and abnormal relations towards their own body. Some self-cutters stopped this practice after having BMs suggesting that they used BMs as a substitute for this behaviour. Those who reported self-cutting had significantly more body piercings than other participants. They reported experiencing power

during their BMs and stated that they required them in order to recover physical sensations of their bodies. They gave higher ratings to motives around the experience of pain, overcoming personal experiences, and feeling forced to do so than those without a history of self-cutting. They attributed great, even therapeutic significance, to their BMs and admitted being addicted to the practice.

Satisfaction with life, self-esteem and mental health in people in Poland aged 16-58 with tattoos or piercings was examined by Pajor et al. (2015). Their sample was predominantly female (75.6% in the body modification group and 59.6% in the control group). They reported no significant differences in life satisfaction between those with BMs and a control group. They found higher levels of self-esteem in those with BMs. The control group displayed more symptoms of social impairment and sleep disorders.

Giles-Gorniak et al. (2016) investigated mental health history and a variety of health and social behaviours in people aged 18-66 with and without BMs. They reported that those with BMs were not more likely to engage in risky behaviours or report a history of mental health problems than a control group. Those with BMs were more likely to engage in social and health behaviours than the control group.

## Critical Appraisal Process

A critical appraisal of the methodological quality of the included studies was undertaken in order to assess whether the articles include a transparent description of the methods used to enable replication of the study to take place. Critical appraisal assesses any assumptions or possible biases of the study to evaluate the strength of the evidence presented (Higgins & Green, 2011).

Study quality was appraised using the Crowe Critical Appraisal Tool (CCAT) (Crowe, 2013; Appendix C). This tool was selected as it has good construct reliability and inter-rater reliability. It is designed to evaluate studies of different methodologies, including cross-sectional studies. Other common critical appraisal tools, such as the Critical Appraisal Skills Program tools, are not designed for a cross-sectional methodology. All the studies identified in this review use a cross-sectional survey so the CCAT was the most appropriate tool to use.

The CCAT assesses eight categories each scored out of five to give a total score out of 40. The CCAT contains checklist items in each category to assist with appraising and scoring the category. All categories must be evaluated, however checklist items can be marked as 'not applicable' if they are not relevant to the research methodology used. The authors of the CCAT stress that the category scores are not calculated merely by summing the checklist items within that category but reflect a judgement of the importance of the items to the overall quality of the paper.

## Methodological Quality

The quality of the studies reviewed varied, but all were regarded as of fair to good quality. All the studies had some methodological flaws, with most not containing sufficient information regarding recruitment of participants or ethical matters. The quality of the included studies is discussed in relation to the categories used in the CCAT. Table 1 provides a summary of the scores assigned to each study.

#### Introduction

Most studies provided an excellent introduction section providing a discussion of the relevant literature which gave a clear rationale for the aims of the study. Koch et al. (2015) was rated lower than the other studies for this category. This study provided only a short introduction so the authors may not have been able to provide the same depth of information as seen in other studies.

#### Design

All studies used a cross-sectional survey design. The reporting of the design used was rated as of satisfactory quality. Many of the studies failed to report the validity and reliability of the measures they used. Some studies (e.g. Aizenman & Jensen, 2007; Iannaccone et al., 2013; and Stirn & Hinz, 2008) used questionnaires developed by the authors but did not report if these had been tested to establish their validity prior to use. Few of the studies reported if any steps were taken to address potential issues of bias, or to control for confounding variables.

## Sampling

A variety of sampling methods were used in the different studies reflecting the different populations participants were drawn from. Most studies were rated as

	Aizenman & Jensen (2007)	Cardasis et al. (2008)	Stirn & Hinz (2008)	Bui et al. (2013)	Owen et al. (2013)	lannaccone et al. (2013)	Koch et al. (2015)	Pajor et al. (2015)	Giles- Gorniak et al. (2016)
Preliminaries	4	3	4	4	4	4	4	4	5
Introduction	5	5	5	5	5	5	4	5	5
Design	3	4	3	3	3	3	3	3	4
Sampling	3	3	4	2	2	1	2	2	3
Data Collection	3	4	3	2	4	2	2	2	4
Ethical Matters	2	2	1	1	3	0	2	3	1
Results	4	4	3	3	3	2	3	3	4
Discussion	4	5	3	4	4	3	2	4	3
Total (/40)	28	30	26	24	28	20	22	26	29

Table 1: Critical appraisal scores for the reviewed studies, using CCAT (Crowe, 2013)

providing insufficient information. No studies provided a rationale for the sample size they used, although most seemed to recruit a suitable number of participants for their aims. Cardasis et al. (2008) and Iannaccone et al. (2013) recruited fewer participants, but as they were recruiting from clinical populations they may have been limited by the environment they were recruiting from.

Giles-Gorniak et al. (2016), Pajor et al. (2015) and Stirn & Hinz (2008) all recruited from samples that were actively involved in the BM community – either considering or obtaining a new BM (attending shops/studios), researching BMs (by reading magazines) or interested in this community/sub-culture and identifying as a member (attending festivals and conventions). These individuals may be different to those with BMs who are not actively engaged in this community in some way. However, pragmatically, recruiting from this population is probably the best way to contact large numbers of people with BMs.

Both Giles-Gorniak et al. (2016) and Pajor et al. (2015) included a control group in their studies. However, these participants were drawn from a coffee shop and department store, and a general and aesthetic dermatology and dermatosurgery clinic, respectively. These groups may have been drawn from different populations meaning they were not well matched and so could not provide adequate comparators. The results found may therefore reflect differences between these populations rather than the variable they were interested in (presence or absence of BMs).

#### Data Collection

Most of the studies were rated poorly in this category due to providing insufficient information. Whilst all provided information about the data collection method used, very few provided justification for choosing this method. Only three studies (Cardasis et al., 2008; Pajor et al., 2015; and Stirn & Hinz, 2008) reported the dates of data collection. This makes it difficult to ascertain if the results may be affected by confounding factors such as changing societal attitudes towards BMs and mental health.

#### **Ethical Matters**

All studies were rated poorly on their reporting of ethical matters. Few mentioned receiving informed consent from their participants or how they ensured participants' privacy and confidentiality was maintained. Only Giles-Gorniak et al. (2016) mentioned the relationships the authors had with the participants and how this could impact on the results found. Few mentioned obtaining ethical approval to conduct their studies, or whether they received funding.

#### Results

Overall, the included studies were rated as satisfactory on their reporting of the results. Many studies reported the analysis method used but failed to justify the use of this method. All studies analysed unadjusted data. All studies provided a summary of their results, but few provided information regarding the precision of these results.

#### Discussion

The studies all provided satisfactory or good discussion sections. They all provided an interpretation of the results in the context of the existing literature in the area. Most considered alternative explanations for the results they found however few discussed the impact of confounding factors or interactions between factors that may have influenced the results. Most authors considered how their findings could be applied practically and whether they were generalisable to other populations or settings. Most authors suggested further studies that could extend their work.

# Findings

Four main categories of findings appeared frequently in the included studies: associations between BMs and mental health; a linear relationship between number of BMs and severity of mental health; associations between BMs and past abuse; and associations of BMs with risk behaviours.

Associations Between Body Modifications and Mental Health The included studies revealed mixed findings regarding the association between BMs and mental health. Four studies found that BMs were associated with an increased incidence of a variety of mental health difficulties. However, three studies did not find such an association. In fact, the results of five studies suggested that BMs may be associated with improvements in various aspects of mental health.

A diverse range of mental health conditions, and factors related to mental health such as self-esteem, have been studied in relation to BMs. BMs are associated with improvements in the factors related to mental health, and also with an increased incidence of diagnosable mental health conditions including depression, ASPD and PTSD. The difference in reported findings may therefore indicate that these studies were examining different things. There may be a qualitative difference between how factors such as self-esteem that are related to mental health and diagnosed mental health conditions are experienced. These mixed findings may reflect that BMs have different meanings for individuals with a mental health condition that could be given a diagnosis compared to people without.

Associations Between Number of Body Modifications and Mental Health The number of BMs participants had was not reported in every study, however the four studies that did report this all found a relationship between the number of BMs and mental health. These studies found an association between an increasing number of body modifications and the likelihood of symptoms of mental health difficulties. This suggests that there may be a linear relationship between the number of BMs and levels of emotional distress. These studies suggest that differences in levels of emotional distress are seen with different amounts of tattoos and piercings. Therefore, there may be differences between the emotional implications of these two BM practices.

No statistical tests were conducted on the data to investigate whether there is a critical number of BMs that predicts an increased likelihood of experiencing mental health difficulties. The studies indicate that the association between number of BMs and mental health depends on the type of BM as mental health difficulties are seen with a lower number of tattoos than piercings.

## Associations Between Body Modifications and Past Abuse

None of the included studies aimed to investigate the relationship between BMs and past abuse, however three studies reported a history of abuse and all found an association with BM.

This seems to be a strong association as all studies that reported this found similar results. However, not all studies investigating the link between BM and mental health reported whether they assessed if their participants had a history of abuse. It is therefore possible that this was not assessed in all studies or, if it was assessed, the studies that found no relationship did not report this finding.

As this was not something the studies aimed to investigate the finding of a relationship between a history of abuse and BMs is unexpected and would need further investigation to provide more evidence to support this connection.

The evidence from the studies included in this review that did report this association suggests that a history of abuse may be a mediating factor in the association between BM and mental health. Further research is needed to explore the relationship between past abuse, BMs and mental health.

## Associations of Body Modifications with Risk Behaviours

The included studies found mixed results when examining the association between risk behaviours and BMs. The number of BMs appeared to mediate the relationship with risky behaviours in one study, yet another study found that individuals with BMs were not more likely to engage in risky behaviours than those without BMs. These studies investigated different types of risky behaviours, so it is possible that BMs are associated with some types of risky behaviours, but not others. The studies also recruited from different populations, so the different findings might reflect different relationships between BMs and risky behaviours in different populations.

Only 2 studies investigated the association between BM and risk behaviours within the context of mental health. The association between BM and risk behaviours has been investigated previously without a connection to mental health and has found an association between these factors.

# Discussion

This review critically appraised and synthesised the findings of nine studies exploring the relationship between BMs and mental health. There is mixed evidence regarding associations between these factors with some studies finding that participants with BMs have a higher incidence of a variety of mental health conditions, whereas other studies have found no such association. Some studies have found that BMs are even associated with improvements of some aspects of mental health and may be used in a therapeutic way in place of self-injurious behaviour.

Although not reported in all studies included in this review, there does appear to be an association between the number of BMs an individual has and mental health with increasing numbers indicating a higher likelihood of mental distress.

Three studies have found an association between past physical or sexual abuse and BMs. Abuse has been linked with poor mental health in previous literature (e.g. Paolucci, Genuis, & Violato, 2001; Springer, Sheridan, Kuo, & Carnes, 2007). It is possible that experience of abuse is a mediating factor in the relationship between BMs and mental health. BM may be a way for survivors of abuse to reclaim their bodies (Liu & Lester, 2012; Stirn, 2003) and therefore lead to more positive feelings about one's body and improvements in mental health.

There are mixed findings regarding the association between BM and risky behaviours. One study reported an association, another reported an association between BMs and some risky behaviours but not others. A final study found no association with risky behaviours but did find an association with social and health behaviours. This last finding appears to be in contrast to the negative perceptions of people with BMs commonly reported in the literature (e.g. Hawkes, Senn, & Thorn, 2004; Zestcott, Bean, & Stone, 2017).

The papers included in this review have participants drawn from a range of different populations. The studies were conducted in different countries, although the inclusion criteria limit this to Western countries due to the diverse meanings of BMs in different cultures (Dieter-Wolf & Diaz-Granados, 2013). This suggests that the findings of associations with historical experiences of abuse and the relationship between the number of BMs and mental distress are likely to apply to a wide range of people.

All the studies included in this review are cross-sectional surveys meaning the findings are correlational. It is therefore not possible to be sure of the direction of the relationship between BMs and mental health. It is possible that poorer mental health leads to individuals obtaining BMs, which then improves their mood thus explaining the mixed findings. It is also possible that BMs could lead to poorer mental health, for example if the individual experiences regret after obtaining a BM or finds that it has a negative impact on their life.

The evidence suggests that there is a relationship between BM and mental health. However, the direction and mechanism of this relationship is not clear from the existing studies in this area. As different studies reported contradictory findings, the current evidence is not strong enough to draw firm conclusions about the relationship between BM and mental health.

The studies included in this review were critically reviewed and all were rated as fair to good on the methodological quality reported. The included studies varied in their methodological quality and this may partially explain the inconsistent findings.

BMs have been well researched in the medical literature, but the psychological effects of BMs, particularly in terms of their relationship to mental health, does not appear to have received as much attention. In addition, the medical literature appears to focus on negative outcomes of BMs such as infections. The studies included in this review that have explored the relationship from a psychological perspective seem to have a more positive view of BMs. This may reflect the biases of the researchers conducting the studies. Alternatively, it may reflect changing views of BMs in society.

## Strengths and Limitations

This review included a small number of studies. The evidence from these studies is not consistent with some studies finding relationships and others finding no relationship, or a relationship in the opposite direction. Most studies had reasonable sample sizes, however it is unclear if the sample sizes used provides sufficient power to detect differences or associations between the variables of interest. It is therefore difficult to say if these findings accurately represent the relationships between BMs and mental health. A larger body of evidence is needed to provide strong conclusions regarding this relationship. Most conclusions drawn in this review are based on the findings of four or fewer studies.

This review followed a systematic process in order to select relevant articles to include. It updates and extends the work of Bui et al. (2010). Bui et al.'s review focused on piercings whereas this review considered all types of BMs. However, the included articles only investigated piercings and tattoos and not less common forms of BM such as scarification or sub-dermal implants.

Articles not written in English were excluded from this review. Although this was necessary due to lack of ability to understand languages other than English, it may mean that some relevant articles were not included

It is recognised that the assessment of the methodological quality of the included articles was completed by one reviewer and as such may have been influenced by the researcher's subjective feelings about the papers. This could have been improved by involving another, independent, reviewer to assess the methodological quality of the papers. Any disagreements about the quality of the papers could then be discussed to provide a more objective assessment.

# Implications and Conclusions

## Conclusion

This review examined a small number of studies exploring the association between BMs and mental health. The quality of the included studies varied. There were mixed findings surrounding the relationship between BM and mental health, and the relationship between BM and risky behaviours. Although only a small number of studies reported findings relating BM and experiences of abuse, and number of BMs and mental health, all studies report similar relationships in these areas.

## **Clinical Implications**

Due to the association identified between historical experiences of abuse and BMs the presence of BMs may be an indicator of past abuse which should be explored by clinicians.

The evidence suggests that as the number of BMs increases so does the likelihood of experiencing symptoms of mental health distress. Therefore, a high number of BMs should be viewed as an indication of possible mental health distress which should be discussed in more depth with the individual with BMs.

Some research suggests that BMs may have a positive impact on mental health and may be used as a way of coping with traumatic experiences such as abuse. Clinicians should therefore keep an open mind and explore with the individual the meaning their BMs hold for them and if BMs are used as a way of managing their distress. This could lead to a discussion around developing alternative ways of managing distress if desired.

## **Future Studies**

Due to the limited evidence regarding the relationship between the number of BMs and mental distress, this area would benefit from further research. In particular investigation into whether there is a specific number of BMs that indicates an increased risk of mental distress, or whether there is a linear relationship between number of BMs and mental distress.

As all the studies included in this review were cross-sectional and therefore reported correlational findings it is not possible to be certain which factor influences the other, or if there is another factor that mediates the relationship. For example, do people experience poor mental health and obtain BMs as a way of helping them feel better? Or do people obtain BMs which then leads to a decline in their mental health?

Although randomised controlled trials would be able to explore these relationships further it would not be ethical to conduct studies with this design in this area of research. Longitudinal studies would enable researchers to identify which factor came first which would add weight to the argument that one variable influences the other. However, there may be practical reasons why these trials cannot be completed, such as a lack of funding.

All the included studies were drawn from the USA and continental Europe. The inclusion criteria for the review specified Western countries, however this included countries such as Australia and New Zealand. It is possible that the relationship between BM and mental health differs in those countries compared to the USA and continental Europe. Further studies should replicate and extend the existing studies to examine any potential cultural differences. In addition, future studies should investigate relationships between BM and mental health in non-Western countries to explore any similarities or differences between different cultures. Many of the studies included in this review recruited their participants from the student body of universities. This may limit the applicability of the results to members of the population who do not fall into the same categories, for example those with a lower level of education. There may be important differences in prevalence of mental health difficulties or access to professional BM in different groups which may influence the results. More studies need to be completed with participants from diverse backgrounds that are more representative of the general population in order to establish whether the findings can be applied to people from different backgrounds.

All the studies included in this review examined the associations between mental health and BM in the form of tattoos, piercings or both. There do not appear to have been any studies examining the relationship between mental health and more 'extreme' forms of BM such as scarification or sub-dermal implants. There may be differences between people who choose to obtain these more 'extreme' forms of BMs and those who obtain tattoos and piercings. Future studies should investigate any differences between these groups of body modifiers exploring if they have different motivations for obtaining BMs and if the relationship to mental health is related to the type of BM an individual has.

Further exploration of the meanings participants make of BMs, particularly in the context of historical experiences of abuse may reveal novel motivations. The

33

studies reviewed here have all explored motivations for obtaining BMs using questionnaires. While this is an appropriate way of gathering information from a large number of participants and allows for statistical tests to be conducted, it restricts the answers participants are able to give to those included by the authors. There may be motivations for obtaining BMs and experiences around this that are not adequately explained by these responses. It would be beneficial to explore this in more depth with people with BMs to enable them to explain their own motivations for obtaining BMs. References

- Aizenman, M., & Jensen, M. A. C. (2007). Speaking through the body: The incidence of self-injury, piercing, and tattooing among college students. *Journal of College Counseling*, 10(1), 27–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1882.2007.tb00004.x
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). American Psychiatric Association: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition. Arlington, VA.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2015). What is mental illness. Retrieved July 21, 2018, from https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/what-is-mentalillness
- Atik, D., & Yildirim, C. (2014). Motivations behind acquiring tattoos and feelings of regret: Highlights from an Eastern Mediterranean context. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 13, 212–223. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1480
- Bone, A., Ncube, F., Nichols, T., & ND, N. (2008). Body piercing in England: a survey of piercing at sites other than earlobe. *BMJ: British Medical Journal (International Edition)*, 336(7658), 1426–1428. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39580.497176.25
- Bone, A., Ncube, F., Nichols, T., & Noah, N. D. (2008). Body piercing in England: A survey of piercing at sites other than earlobe. *Bmj*, 336(7658), 1426–1428. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39580.497176.25
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Bridges, S. (2014). 2: Mental Health Problems. *Health Survey for England*, 1, 1–16.

Bui, E., Rodgers, R., Cailhol, L., Birmes, P., Chabrol, H., & Schmitt, L. (2010a). Body piercing and psychopathology: a review of the literature. *Psychotherapy And Psychosomatics*, 79(2), 125–129. https://doi.org/10.1159/000276376

- Bui, E., Rodgers, R., Cailhol, L., Birmes, P., Chabrol, H., & Schmitt, L. (2010b). Body piercing and psychopathology: A review of the literature. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 79(2), 125–129. https://doi.org/10.1159/000276376
- Bui, E., Rodgers, R., Simon, N. M., Jehel, L., Metcalf, C. A., Birmes, P., & Schmitt, L. (2013a). Body piercings and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in young adults. *Stress And Health: Journal Of The International Society For The Investigation Of Stress*, 29(1), 70–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2427
- Bui, E., Rodgers, R., Simon, N. M., Jehel, L., Metcalf, C. A., Birmes, P., & Schmitt, L. (2013b). Body piercings and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in young adults. *Stress and Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, 29(1), 70–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2427
- Cardasis, W., Huth-Bocks, A., & Silk, K. R. (2008). Tattoos and antisocial personality disorder. *Personality and Mental Health*, 2(3), 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmh.43
- Carr, M. J., Ashcroft, D. M., Kontopantelis, E., Awenat, Y., Cooper, J., Chew-graham,
  C., ... Webb, R. T. (2016). The epidemiology of self-harm in a UK-wide primary
  care patient cohort , 2001 2013. *BMC Psychiatry*, 1–10.
  https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-0753-5
- Chapman, A. L., Gratz, K. L., & Brown, M. Z. (2006). Solving the puzzle of deliberate self-harm : The experiential avoidance model, 44, 371–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.03.005
- Chartered Institute of Environmental Health. (2013). *Tattooing and Body Piercing Guidance Toolkit*. Retrieved from https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/CIEHToolkit.pdf
- Claes, L., & Vandereycken, W. (2007). Self-injurious behavior: differential diagnosis and functional differentiation. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 48(2), 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2006.10.009
- Cooper, J., Kapur, N., Webb, R., Lawlor, M., Guthrie, E., Mackway-Jones, K., & Appleby, L. (2005). Suicide after deliberate self-harm: A 4-year cohort study.
*American Journal of Psychiatry*, *162*(2), 297–303. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.2.297

- Crowe, M. (2013). Crowe Critical Appraisal Tool (CCAT) v1.4. Retrieved August 16, 2018, from https://conchra.com.au/2015/12/08/crowe-critical-appraisal-tool-v1-4/
- Culnan, M. J., & Markus, M. L. (1987). Information technologies. In F. M. Jablin, L. L. Putnam, K. H. Robers, & L. W. Porter (Eds.), *Handbook of organizational communication: An interdisciplinary perspective* (pp. 420–443). Newbery Park, CA: Sage.
- Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1984). Information richness: a new approach to managerial behavior and organizational design. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *6*, 191–233.
- Dieter-Wolf, A., & Diaz-Granados, C. (2013). Drawing with great needles: Ancient tattoo traditions of north america. Austin: University of Texas Press. https://doi.org/10.7560/749122
- Edmondson, A. J., Brennan, C. A., & House, A. O. (2016). Non-suicidal reasons for self-harm: A systematic review of self-reported accounts. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 191, 109–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.043
- Feigenbaum, J. (2010). Self-harm The solution not the problem: The Dialectical Behaviour Therapy model. *Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy*, 24(2), 115–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/02668731003707873

Ferguson, H. (1999). Body piercing, 319(December), 1627–1629.

- Giles-Gorniak, A. N., Vandehey, M. A., & Stiles, B. L. (2016). Understanding differences in mental health history and behavioral choices in a community sample of individuals with and without body modifications. *Deviant Behavior*, 37(8), 852–860. https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2015.1060798
- Goldstein, N., & Sewell, M. (1979). III . Tattoos in Different Cultures. *Journal of Dermatological Surgery and Oncology*, *5*(11), 857–864.

https://doi.org/10.111/j.1524-4725.1979.tb00769.x

- Hawkes, D., Senn, C. Y., & Thorn, C. (2004). Factors that influence attitudes toward women with tattoos. Sex Roles, 50(9–10), 593–604.
  https://doi.org/10.1023/B:SERS.0000027564.83353.06
- Hawton, K. (2004). Deliberate self-harm. *Medicine*, *32*(8), 38–42. https://doi.org/10.1383/medc.32.8.38.43174
- Hawton, K., Bergen, H., Cooper, J., Turnbull, P., Waters, K., Ness, J., & Kapur, N.
  (2015). Suicide following self-harm : Findings from the Multicentre Study of self-harm in England , 2000 2012. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 175, 147–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.12.062
- Hicinbothem, J., Gonsalves, S., & Lester, D. (2006). Body modification and suicidal behavior. *Death Studies*, 30(4), 351–363. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481180600553419
- Hicinbothem, J., Gonsalves, S., & Lester, D. (2006). Body modification and suicidal behavior. *Death Studies*, 30(4), 351–363. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.staffs.ac.uk/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=106221095&site=ehost-live
- Higgins, J. P., & Green, S. (2011). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Retrieved August 16, 2018, from http://handbook-5-1.cochrane.org/
- Hill, B. M., Ogletree, S. M., & McCrary, K. M. (2016). Body Modifications in College Students: Considering Gender, Self-Esteem, Body Appreciation, and Reasons for Tattoos. *College Student Journal*, *50*(2), 246–252. Retrieved from https://ezproxy.southern.edu/login?qurl=http%3A%2F%2Fsearch.ebscohost.c om%2Flogin.aspx%3Fdirect%3Dtrue%26db%3Da9h%26AN%3D116190975%26 site%3Dehost-live%26scope%3Dsite
- Iannaccone, M., Cella, S., Manzi, S. A., Visconti, L., Manzi, F., & Cotrufo, P. (2013). My body and me: Self-injurious behaviors and body modifications in eating disorders—Preliminary results. *Eating Disorders: The Journal of Treatment &*

Prevention, 21(2), 130–139. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2013.761087

- Kaatz, M., Elsner, P., & Bauer, A. (2008). Body-modifying concepts and dermatologic problems : tattooing and piercing, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2007.10.004
- Kasket, E. (2009a). Protocol for responding to participant distress: adapted version for instant messaging. London Metropolitan University. Available from: e.kasket@londonmet.ac.uk.
- Kasket, E. (2009b). Protocol for responding to participant distress: Adapted version for telephone or Skype. London Metropolitan University. Available from: e.kasket@londonmet.ac.uk.
- Kaye, L. K., Wall, H. J., & Malone, S. A. (2016). Computers in Human Behavior "Turn that frown upside-down ": A contextual account of emoticon usage on different virtual platforms. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 60, 463–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.02.088
- Kertzman, S., Kagan, A., Vainder, M., Lapidus, R., & Weizman, A. (2013). Interactions between risky decisions, impulsiveness and smoking in young tattooed women. *BMC Psychiatry*, 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-13-278
- Kidger, J., Heron, J., Lewis, G., Evans, J., & Gunnell, D. (2012). Adolescent self-harm and suicidal thoughts in the ALSPAC cohort: a self-report survey in England. *BMC Psychiatry*, 12(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-12-69
- Kiesler, S. (1986). The hidden message in computer networks. *Harvard Business Review*, *64*, 46–58.
- Klonsky, E. D. (2011). Non-suicidal self-injury in United States adults: prevalence, sociodemographics, topography and functions, 41, 1981–1986. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291710002497
- Koch, J. R., Roberts, A. E., Armstrong, M. L., & Owen, D. C. (2015). Tattoos, gender, and well-being among American college students. *The Social Science Journal*, 52(4), 536–541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2015.08.001

- Larsen, G., Patterson, M., & Markham, L. (2014). A deviant art: Tattoo-related stigma in an era of commodification. *Psychology & Marketing*, 31(8), 670–681. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20727
- Laumann, A. E., & Derick, A. J. (2006). Tattoos and body piercings in the United States: A national data set. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 55(3), 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2006.03.026
- Liu, C. M., & Lester, D. (2012). Body Modification Sites and Abuse History. Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 21(1), 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2012.630340
- McDougall, T., Armstrong, M., & Trainor, G. (2010). Helping Children and Young People Who Self-Harm: An Introduction to Self-Harming and Suicidal Behaviours for Health Professionals. London: Taylor & Francis.
- McManus S, Bebbington P, Jenkins R, B. T. (eds. . (2016). Mental health and wellbeing in England: Adult psychiatric morbidity survey 2014. *Leeds: NHS Digital*, 405.
- Mental Health Foundation. (2016). Fundamental Facts About Mental Health.
- Mental Health Foundation. (2019). Self-Harm. Retrieved April 18, 2019, from https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/s/self-harm
- Motz, A. (2010). Self-harm as a sign of hope. *Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy*, 24(2), 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1080/02668731003707527
- National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health. (2012). *Self-Harm: The NICE Guideline on Longer-term Management*. The British Psychological Society and The Royal College of Psychiatrists.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. (2004). Self-harm in over 8s: short-term management and prevention of recurrence Clinical guideline, (July 2004).
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Self-harm in over 8s: Long-term management (2011).

- Newton, C., & Bale, C. (2012). A Qualitative Analysis of Perceptions of Self-Harm in Members of the General Public. *Journal of Public Mental Health*, 11(3), 106– 116. https://doi.org/10.1108/17465721211261914
- Nock, M. K. (2008). Actions speak louder than words: An elaborated theoretical model of the social functions of self-injury and other harmful behaviors.
   Applied and Preventive Psychology, 12, 159–168.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appsy.2008.05.002
- Nock, M. K., & Prinstein, M. J. (2004). A functional approach to the assessment of self-mutilative behavior. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72(5), 885–890. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.72.5.885
- Ofcom. (2017). Adults ' media use and attitudes. Retrieved from https://www.ofcom.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0020/102755/adultsmedia-use-attitudes-2017.pdf
- Owen, D. C., Armstrong, M. L., Koch, J. R., & Roberts, A. E. (2013). College students with body art: Well-being or high-risk behavior? *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, *51*(10), 20–28. https://doi.org/10.3928/02793695-20130731-03
- Oxford Dictionaries. (2018). Emoji. Retrieved December 29, 2018, from https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/emoji
- Oxford Dictionaries. (2019). Emoticon. Retrieved March 31, 2019, from https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/emoticon
- Pajor, A. J., Broniarczyk-Dyła, G., & Świtalska, J. (2015). Satisfaction with life, selfesteem and evaluation of mental health in people with tattoos or piercings. *Psychiatria Polska*, 49(3), 559–573. https://doi.org/10.12740/PP/27266
- Paolucci, E. O., Genuis, M. L., & Violato, C. (2001). A meta-analysis of the published research on the effects of child sexual abuse. *Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, 135(1), 17–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980109603677

- Pentina, I., & Spears, N. (2011). Reasons behind body art adoption: what motivates young adults to acquire tattoos? *Journal of Customer Behaviour*, *10*(1), 73–94. https://doi.org/10.1362/147539211X570528
- Randall, C., Corp, A., & Self, A. (2014). Measuring National Well-Being: Life in the UK. Office for National Statistics, (February), 1–52. Retrieved from http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171766\_352740.pdf
- Rice, R. E., & Love, G. (1987). Electronic Emotion: Socioemotional content in a computer- mediated communication network. *Communication Research*, 14, 85–108.
- Schramme, T. (2008). SHOULD WE PREVENT NON-THERAPEUTIC MUTILATION AND EXTREME BODY MODIFICATION ?, 22(1), 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8519.2007.00566.x
- Singhal, A., Ross, J., Seminog, O., Hawton, K., & Goldacre, M. J. (2014). Risk of selfharm and suicide in people with specific psychiatric and physical disorders : comparisons between disorders using English national record linkage, *107*(5), 194–204. https://doi.org/10.1177/0141076814522033
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). *Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis: Theory, Method and Research*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2008). Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis. In J. A. Smith (Ed.), *Qualitative Psychology: A Practical Guide to Research Methods* (2nd ed., pp. 53–80). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Springer, K. W., Sheridan, J., Kuo, D., & Carnes, M. (2007). Long-term physical and mental health consequences of childhood physical abuse: Results from a large population-based sample of men and women. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *31*(5), 517–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.01.003
- Stirn, A. (2003). Body piercing: Medical consequences and psychological motivations. *Lancet*, 361(9364), 1205–1215. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12955-8

- Stirn, A., & Hinz, A. (2008). Tattoos , body piercings , and self-injury : Is there a connection ? Investigations on a core group of participants practicing body modification, 18(May). https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300701506938
- Stirn, A., Hinz, A., & Brähler, E. (2006). Prevalence of tattooing and body piercing in Germany and perception of health, mental disorders, and sensation seeking among tattooed and body-pierced individuals. *Journal Of Psychosomatic Research*, 60(5), 531–534. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.staffs.ac.uk/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=16650594&site=ehost-live
- Suyemoto, K. L. (1998). The functions of self-mutilation. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *18*(5), 531–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7358(97)00105-0
- Tattooing of Minors Act (1969). United Kingdom. Retrieved from http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1969/24
- The British Psychological Society. (2017). Ethics Guidelines for Internet-mediated Research. Leicester: The British Psychological Society. https://doi.org/INF206/04.2017
- Tiggemann, M., & Golder, F. (2006). Tattooing: an expression of uniqueness in the appearance domain. *Body Image*, 3(4), 309–315. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.staffs.ac.uk/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=rzh&AN=106140197&site=ehost-live
- Tiggemann, M., & Golder, F. (2006). Tattooing: An expression of uniqueness in the appearance domain. *Body Image*, 3(4), 309–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2006.09.002
- Vivek, K., Verghese, J., & Harvey, G. (2010). Tattoos: what is their significance? Advances in Phychiatric Treatment, 16, 281–287. https://doi.org/10.1192/apt.bp.108.006205
- Walther, J. B., & D'Addario, K. P. (2001). The Impact of Emoticons on Message Interpretation in Computer-Mediated Communication. *Social Science Computer Review*, 19(324). https://doi.org/10.1177/089443930101900307

- Williams, K. (1998). Tattos, scars, body adornment and dishevelment in an acute psychiatric population. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, 22(2), 94–96. https://doi.org/10.1192/pb.22.2.94
- Wohlrab, S., Stahl, J., & Kappeler, P. M. (2007). Modifying the body: Motivations for getting tattooed and pierced. *Body Image*, 4(1), 87–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2006.12.001
- Wohlrab, S., Stahl, J., Rammsayer, T., & Kappeler, P. M. (2007). Differences in personality characteristics between body-modified and non-modified individuals: Associations with individual personality traits and their possible evolutionary implications. *European Journal of Personality*, 21(7), 931–951. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.642
- World Health Organisation. (2014). Mental Health. Retrieved July 21, 2018, from http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/mental\_health/en/
- Zahl, D. L., & Hawton, K. (2004). Repetition of deliberate self-harm and subsequent suicide risk: Long-term follow-up study of 11 583 patients. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *185*(1), 70–75. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.185.1.70
- Zestcott, C. A., Bean, M. G., & Stone, J. (2017). Evidence of negative implicit attitudes toward individuals with a tattoo near the face. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 20(2), 186–201. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430215603459

# Appendices

# Appendix A: Author Guidelines for the British Journal of Clinical Psychology

# **Author Guidelines**

The British Journal of Clinical Psychology publishes original contributions to scientific knowledge in clinical psychology and Registered Reports. This includes descriptive comparisons, as well as studies of the assessment, aetiology and treatment of people with a wide range of psychological problems in all age groups and settings. The level of analysis of studies ranges from biological influences on individual behaviour through to studies of psychological interventions and treatments on individuals, dyads, families and groups, to investigations of the relationships between explicitly social and psychological levels of analysis.

All papers published in The British Journal of Clinical Psychology are eligible for Panel A: Psychology, Psychiatry and Neuroscience in the Research Excellence Framework (REF).

The following types of paper are invited:

- Papers reporting original empirical investigations
- Theoretical papers, provided that these are sufficiently related to the empirical data
- Review articles which need not be exhaustive but which should give an interpretation of the state of the research in a given field and, where appropriate, identify its clinical implications
- Brief reports and comments
- 1. Circulation

The circulation of the Journal is worldwide. Papers are invited and encouraged from authors throughout the world.

2. Length

The word limit for papers submitted for consideration to BJCP is 5000 words and any papers that are over this word limit will be returned to the authors. The word limit does not include the abstract, reference list, figures, or tables. Appendices however are included in the word limit. The Editors retain discretion to publish papers beyond this length in cases where the clear and concise expression of the scientific content requires greater length. In such a case, the authors should contact the Editors before submission of the paper.

3. Submission and reviewing

All manuscripts must be submitted via Editorial Manager. The Journal operates a policy of anonymous (double blind) peer review. We also operate a triage process in which submissions that are out of scope or otherwise inappropriate will be rejected by the editors without external peer review to avoid unnecessary delays. Before submitting, please read the terms and conditions of submission and the declaration of competing interests. You may also like to use the Submission Checklist to help you prepare your paper.

By submitting a manuscript to or reviewing for this publication, your name, email address, and affiliation, and other contact details the publication might require, will be used for the regular operations of the publication, including, when necessary, sharing with the publisher (Wiley) and partners for production and publication. The publication and the publisher recognize the importance of protecting the personal information collected from users in the operation of these services, and have practices in place to ensure that steps are taken to maintain the security, integrity, and privacy of the personal data collected and processed. You can learn more at <a href="https://authorservices.wiley.com/statements/data-protection-policy.html">https://authorservices.wiley.com/statements/data-protection-policy.html</a>.

4. Manuscript requirements

• Contributions must be typed in double spacing with wide margins. All sheets must be numbered.

• Manuscripts should be preceded by a title page which includes a full list of authors and their affiliations, as well as the corresponding author's contact details. You may like to use <u>this template</u>. When entering the author names into Editorial Manager, the corresponding author will be asked to provide a CRediT contributor role to classify the role that each author played in creating the manuscript. Please see the Project CRediT website for a list of roles.

• The main document must be anonymous. Please do not mention the authors' names or affiliations (including in the Method section) and refer to any previous work in the third person.

• Tables should be typed in double spacing, each on a separate page with a selfexplanatory title. Tables should be comprehensible without reference to the text. They should be placed at the end of the manuscript but they must be mentioned in the text.

• Figures can be included at the end of the document or attached as separate files, carefully labelled in initial capital/lower case lettering with symbols in a form consistent with text use. Unnecessary background patterns, lines and shading should be avoided. Captions should be listed on a separate sheet. The resolution of digital images must be at least 300 dpi. All figures must be mentioned in the text.

• All papers must include a structured abstract of up to 250 words under the headings: Objectives, Methods, Results, Conclusions. Articles which report original scientific research should also include a heading 'Design' before 'Methods'. The

'Methods' section for systematic reviews and theoretical papers should include, as a minimum, a description of the methods the author(s) used to access the literature they drew upon. That is, the abstract should summarize the databases that were consulted and the search terms that were used.

• All Articles must include Practitioner Points – these are 2–4 bullet points to detail the positive clinical implications of the work, with a further 2–4 bullet points outlining cautions or limitations of the study. They should be placed below the abstract, with the heading 'Practitioner Points'.

• For reference citations, please use APA style. Particular care should be taken to ensure that references are accurate and complete. Give all journal titles in full and provide DOI numbers where possible for journal articles.

• SI units must be used for all measurements, rounded off to practical values if appropriate, with the imperial equivalent in parentheses.

- In normal circumstances, effect size should be incorporated.
- Authors are requested to avoid the use of sexist language.

• Authors are responsible for acquiring written permission to publish lengthy quotations, illustrations, etc. for which they do not own copyright. For guidelines on editorial style, please consult the APA Publication Manual published by the American Psychological Association.

If you need more information about submitting your manuscript for publication, please email Vicki Pang, Editorial Assistant (<u>bjc@wiley.com</u>) or phone +44 (0) 1243 770 410.

# 5. Brief reports and comments

These allow publication of research studies and theoretical, critical or review comments with an essential contribution to make. They should be limited to 2000 words, including references. The abstract should not exceed 120 words and should be structured under these headings: Objective, Method, Results, Conclusions. There should be no more than one table or figure, which should only be included if it conveys information more efficiently than the text. Title, author name and address are not included in the word limit.

# 6. Supporting Information

BJC is happy to accept articles with supporting information supplied for online only publication. This may include appendices, supplementary figures, sound files, videoclips etc. These will be posted on Wiley Online Library with the article. The print version will have a note indicating that extra material is available online. Please indicate clearly on submission which material is for online only publication. Please note that extra online only material is published as supplied by the author in the same file format and is not copyedited or typeset. Further information about this service can be found at <a href="http://authorservices.wiley.com/bauthor/suppmat.asp">http://authorservices.wiley.com/bauthor/suppmat.asp</a>

# 7. Copyright and licenses

If your paper is accepted, the author identified as the formal corresponding author for the paper will receive an email prompting them to login into Author Services, where via the Wiley Author Licensing Service (WALS) they will be able to complete the license agreement on behalf of all authors on the paper.

For authors signing the copyright transfer agreement

If the OnlineOpen option is not selected the corresponding author will be presented with the copyright transfer agreement (CTA) to sign. The terms and conditions of the CTA can be previewed in the samples associated with the Copyright FAQs.

For authors choosing OnlineOpen

If the OnlineOpen option is selected the corresponding author will have a choice of the following Creative Commons License Open Access Agreements (OAA):

- Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License OAA
- Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial -NoDerivs License OAA

To preview the terms and conditions of these open access agreements please visit the Copyright FAQs and you may also like to visit the Wiley Open Access Copyright and Licence page.

If you select the OnlineOpen option and your research is funded by The Wellcome Trust and members of the Research Councils UK (RCUK) or the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) you will be given the opportunity to publish your article under a CC-BY license supporting you in complying with your Funder requirements. For more information on this policy and the Journal's compliant self-archiving policy please visit our Funder Policy page.

8. Colour illustrations

Colour illustrations can be accepted for publication online. These would be reproduced in greyscale in the print version. If authors would like these figures to be reproduced in colour in print at their expense they should request this by completing a Colour Work Agreement form upon acceptance of the paper. A copy of the Colour Work Agreement form can be downloaded <u>here</u>.

9. Pre-submission English-language editing

Authors for whom English is a second language may choose to have their manuscript professionally edited before submission to improve the English. A list of independent suppliers of editing services can be found at

<u>http://authorservices.wiley.com/bauthor/english\_language.asp</u>. All services are paid for and arranged by the author, and use of one of these services does not guarantee acceptance or preference for publication.

10. Author Services

Author Services enables authors to track their article – once it has been accepted – through the production process to publication online and in print. Authors can check the status of their articles online and choose to receive automated e-mails at key stages of production. The author will receive an e-mail with a unique link that enables them to register and have their article automatically added to the system. Please ensure that a complete e-mail address is provided when submitting the manuscript. Visit <u>http://authorservices.wiley.com/bauthor/</u> for more details on online production tracking and for a wealth of resources including FAQs and tips on article preparation, submission and more.

# 11. The Later Stages

The corresponding author will receive an email alert containing a link to a web site. A working e-mail address must therefore be provided for the corresponding author. The proof can be downloaded as a PDF (portable document format) file from this site. Acrobat Reader will be required in order to read this file. This software can be downloaded (free of charge) from the following web site: <u>http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html</u>.

This will enable the file to be opened, read on screen and annotated direct in the PDF. Corrections can also be supplied by hard copy if preferred. Further instructions will be sent with the proof. Excessive changes made by the author in the proofs, excluding typesetting errors, will be charged separately.

# 12. Early View

British Journal of Clinical Psychology is covered by the Early View service on Wiley Online Library. Early View articles are complete full-text articles published online in advance of their publication in a printed issue. Articles are therefore available as soon as they are ready, rather than having to wait for the next scheduled print issue. Early View articles are complete and final. They have been fully reviewed, revised and edited for publication, and the authors' final corrections have been incorporated. Because they are in final form, no changes can be made after online publication. The nature of Early View articles means that they do not yet have volume, issue or page numbers, so they cannot be cited in the traditional way. They are cited using their Digital Object Identifier (DOI) with no volume and issue or pagination information. E.g., Jones, A.B. (2010). Human rights Issues. Human Rights Journal. Advance online publication. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9299.2010.00300.x

Further information about the process of peer review and production can be found in this document: What happens to my paper? Appeals are handled according to the procedure recommended by COPE.

Study	Study type	Exposure	Study population	When trial conducted	Country	Aims	Brief findings	Commercial research support
Azienman & Jensen (2007)	Cross- sectional survey	Self-Injury, Body Piercing, Tattoos	College students	Not reported	USA	to determine the incidence, characteristics and age of onset of body- altering behaviours among college students. To identify similarities and differences in the motives and feelings of those choosing socially acceptable forms of painful BMs (piercing and tattooing) and those who self-injure.	High prevalence of self-injury. Those who self-injured motivated by a desire to alleviate emotional pain, those who tattooed and pierced motivated by self-expression. Those who self-injured scored higher than those who tattooed and pierced on measures of depression and scored lower on self-esteem and sense of control scales. The incidence of all three body altering behaviours was higher among participants reporting physical/sexual abuse or eating disorders.	Not reported

Appendix B: Table of Study Characteristics and Main Findings

Cardasis et al.	Cross-	Presence of	Forensic	Nov 1995-Apr	USA	To determine if	significantly more	Not reported
(2008)	sectional	tattoos,	psychiatric	1996		forensic psychiatric	forensic psychiatric	
	survey	surface area	inpatients			patients with tattoos	inpatients with tattoos	
		covered by				are more likely to	had a diagnosis of	
		tattoos				have a diagnosis of	ASPD compared to	
						Anti-Social Personality	patients without	
						Disorder (ASPD) than	tattoos. Patients with	
						those without tattoos	ASPD also had a	
							significantly greater	
							number of tattoos, a	
							trend towards having	
							a greater percentage	
							of their total body	
							surface area tattooed	
							and were more likely	
							to have a history of	
							substance abuse than	
							patients without	
							ASPD. tattooed	
							subiects. with or	
							without ASPD were	
							significantly more	
							likely to have histories	
							of substance abuse.	
							sexual abuse. and	
							suicide attempts than	
							non-tattooed patients	

Stirn & Hinz (2008)	Cross- sectional survey	History of self-cutting	readers of a tattooing and related BM practices magazine	May 2002	Germany	Investigate motives for obtaining BMs and relations to biographical events. Investigate possible relations between self-mutilation and BMs	BMs changed the participants' attitude toward their body considerably. 34% of all participants reported BM practices in conjunction with decisive biographical events. 27% or participants admitted self-cutting during childhood. This group differed from the group without self- cutting with respect to several features before, during and after BM.	Not reported
Bui et al. (2013)	Cross- sectional survey	Number of piercings	French-speaking adults	Not reported	Not reported	To examine the association between PTSD symptoms and piercings in young adults.	PTSD symptoms appear to be associated with piercings in young adults. 2 or more piercings might serve as an identifiable marker for PTSD symptoms.	Supported by a grant from the University of Toulouse.

Owen et al.	Cross-	Tattoos,	Undergraduate	Not reported	USA	To explore	Three consistent self-	Not reported
(2013)	sectional	Lifetime	college students			associations between	identity outcomes for	
	survey	Piercings,				different types of BM	body art were	
		Intimate				and high-risk	identified. It helped	
		Piercings				behaviours; emotional	me express myself;	
						distress; and positive	feel unique; and, be	
						self-view strategies	myself. When	
							quantifying their body	
							art amounts, well-	
							being similar to those	
							with no body art was	
							present in those with	
							one tattoo and less	
							than four piercings.	
							individuals with four	
							or more tattoos, seven	
							or more piercings,	
							and/or intimate	
							piercings described	
							higher risk behaviours	
							and emotional	
							distress.	

lannaccone	Cross-	Self-injurious	Eating disorder	Not reported	Italy	To explore the	Patients reporting	Not reported
et al. (2013)	sectional	behaviour	patients			prevalence of self-	only BMs showed	
	survey	and body				injurious behaviours	more positive feelings	
		modification				and BMs in a sample	towards their bodies,	
		practices				of patients with eating	higher levels of self-	
						disorders. To	esteem, less	
						determine if BM	impulsivity,	
						correlates with the	depression and	
						presence of self-	anxiety, and lower	
						injurious behaviours.	levels of social	
						To analyse differences	dysfunction than	
						between patients who	those reporting only	
						report self-injurious	self-injury or both self-	
						behaviours and/or BM	injury and BMs. self-	
						with respect to	injury was influenced	
						characteristics related	by both diagnosis and	
						to eating disorders. To	severity of disorders.	
						investigate the		
						influences of diagnosis		
						and the influences of		
						syndrome severity on		
						the variables under		
						study.		
								1

Koch et al. (2015)	Cross- sectional survey	number of tattoos	College students	Not reported	USA	To explore the emotional motivations and outcomes that accompany escalating acquisitions of tattoos.	results indicate a four- fold higher level of reported suicide attempts among females with four or more tattoos as compared with those with no tattoos, or three or less. Results also indicate a statistically significant elevation in self- esteem with that same group. No other findings and comparisons are statistically significant.	Supported by a grant from the E.A. Franklin Charitable Trust
Pajor et al. (2015)	Cross- sectional survey	Presence of tattoos and piercings	General population	July 2012 - September 2013	Poland	To examine the level of satisfaction with life, self-esteem, and the state of mental health in people with BMs compared to those without BMs.	No significant differences in life satisfaction between the BM group and the control group. People with BMs had higher levels of self-esteem with regard to their competence and leadership abilities.	Financed by the Medical University of Lodz.

							They displayed fewer symptoms of social impairment and sleep disorders than the control group.	
Giles-Gorniak et al. (2016)	Cross- sectional survey	Presence of tattoos and piercings	General population	Not reported	USA	to determine differences in mental health history and engagement in social behaviours, health behaviours and risk behaviours between individuals with and without BMs. To explore possible demographic and BM characteristics that may predict engagement in these behaviours or the likelihood of reporting a mental health history.	Individuals with BMs were not more likely to engage in risky behaviours or report a history of mental health problems when compared to non- modified people. They were more likely to engage in social and health behaviours.	Not reported

Table 2: Study Characteristics

Study	Age	Gender	Characteristic of interest	Number of participants	Recruitment
Azienman & Jensen (2007)	17-39 (Mean=20.2, SD=2.57)	82% F, 17% M	Self-Injury, piercings, tattoos	1330 (36% never altered their body; 41% self-injured; 35% piercing; 15% tattoos)	College population, email sent to student body requesting voluntary participation. Entered into a prize draw for \$50 cash.
Cardasis et al. (2008)	20-59 (Mean=33.7, SD=10.3)	100% male	Presence of tattoos, surface area covered by tattoos	23 (15 had tattoos, 8 not tattooed)	Population: male admission unit of a maximum-security state forensic psychiatric facility. All patients sequentially admitted to the unit were approached to participate.
Stirn & Hinz (2008)	mean = 28.1y (range=18-63)	50.3% male, 49.7% female	History of self- cutting	Total = 432 (non-self- cutters = 313; self- cutters = 119)	Recruited from a specialist BM magazine in Germany. Convenience sample. Questionnaire published in magazine, participants self-selected whether to participate.
Bui et al. (2013)	19-35 (Mean = 25, SD = 3.8)	68.5% female, 31.5% male)	Body piercings, PTSD symptoms	391 (no piercings: 278; one piercing: 66; 2+ piercings: 47)	Virtual snowballing method (online survey), recruited from French-speaking population, recruited via email and social networking sites.
Owen et al. (2013)	Mean = 19.5 (range and SD not reported)	58% female, 42% male	Presence of tattoos, piercings and intimate piercings	595 (tattoos = 127, Lifetime piercings = 195, Intimate piercings = 17)	Undergraduate college population enrolled in introductory sociology course, rural southwestern USA. Survey distributed by sociology researchers (2 of the authors).

Appendix C: Table of Participant Characteristics

lannaccone et al. (2013)	15-55 (mean = 27.46, SD=8.29)	100% female	Self-Injurious behaviour, Body modifications	58 (tattoos - 15, piercings - 27, planned body modification - 15, self-injurious behaviour - 29)	recruited from inpatients and outpatients referred to a specialised eating disorders treatment unit. Recruitment method not reported.
Koch et al. (2015)	82% aged 18- 20 (range, mean and SD of ages not reported)	59% female, 41% male	Number of tattoos, gender, self-esteem, depression, suicide ideation and suicidal behaviour	2394 (number of participants in sub- groups not reported)	Recruited from undergraduate sociology students at 6 American public universities, geographically spread across the country. Recruitment method not reported.
Pajor et al. (2015)	16-58 (Mean=26.7, SD = 6.35)	Body modification group: 75.6% female, 24.4% male. Control group: 59.6% female, 40.4% male.	Presence of body modifications.	449 (Body modifications: 308 (tattoo: 90, body piercings:53, both tattoos and piercings: 165), Control: 141)	BM group recruited from BM community (customers of a tattoo studio, participants of festivals and conventions devoted to BMs). Control group recruited from the general population (outpatients at a general and aesthetic dermatology and dermatosurgery clinic who came to remove minor skin lesions).
Giles-Gorniak et al. (2016)	18-66 (Mean = 32, SD = 9.14)	female: 46.9%, male 53.1%	Presence of body modifications.	213 (body modification: 104, non-modified: 109)	BM group recruited from BM shops. Opportunity sample, with snowballing. Non-modified group: recruited from a local coffee shop and department store.

Table 3: Participant Characteristics

# Appendix D: Crowe Critical Appraisal Tool v1.4 (Crowe, 2013)

## Crowe Critical Appraisal Tool (CCAT) Form (v1.4)

Citation

#### Reference

Reviewer

This form must be used in conjunction with the CCAT User Guide (v1.4); otherwise validity and reliability may be severely compromised.

Year

Posoarch dosign	(add if not listed)								
□Not research	Article   Editoria	al   Report   Opinion   Guideliu	ne   Pamphlet						
Historical									
Qualitative	Narrative   Pher	nomenology   Ethnography   C	Grounded theory   Narrative case	study					
Descriptive,	A. Cross-section	al   Longitudinal   Retrospect	ive   Prospective   Correlational	Predictive					
Observational	B. Cohort   Case	-control   Survey   Developme	ental   Normative   Case study   .						
	□True experiment	Pre-test/post-test control Placebo controlled trial	group   Solomon four-group   Po	ost-test only control group   Rar	ndomised two-factor				
Experimental	Quasi- experiment	Post-test only   Non-equiv Separate sample pre-test	valent control group   Counter ba post-test [no Control] [Control]	lanced (cross-over)   Multiple	e time series				
	❑Single system	One-shot experimental (c Within subjects (Equivaler	ase study)   Simple time series   C nt time, repeated measures, multi	Dne group pre-test/post-test   I ple treatment)	nteractive   Multiple baseline				
Mixed Methods Action research   Sequential   Concurrent   Transformative									
Synthesis	Synthesis Systematic review   Critical review   Thematic synthesis   Meta-ethnography   Narrative synthesis								
Other									
Variables and an	nalysis Trootmont(s) - Typosur	co(c) Outcomo(	a) Quitaut(a) Bradistar(a) Ma	Data analysis	mothod(s)				
intervention(s),	rreatment(s), exposur		s), Output(s), Predictor(s), Me		method(s)				
Sampling									
Total size	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4	Control				
Population, sample, setting									
Data collection (	add if not listed)								

a) Primary   Secondary	a) Formal   Informal
Audit/Reviewb) Authoritative   Partisan   Antagonist	Interviewb) Structured   Semi-structured   Unstructured
c) Literature   Systematic	c) One-on-one   Group   Multiple   Self-administered
a) Participant   Non-participant	a) Standardised   Norm-ref   Criterion-ref   Ipsative
Observationb) Structured   Semi-structured   Unstructured	Testingb) Objective   Subjective
c) Covert   Candid	c) One-on-one   Group   Self-administered

ores										
Preliminaries	Design	Data Collection	Results	Total [/40]						
Introduction	Sampling	Ethical Matters	Discussion	Total [%]						

## General notes

(cc) BY-SA

Crowe Critical Appraisal Tool (CCAT) :: Version 1.4 (19 November 2013) :: Michael Crowe (michael.crowe@my.jcu.edu.au) This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported License. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/ Appraise research on the merits of the research design used, not against other research designs. Page 1 of 2

<b>Category</b> Item	Item descriptors [ Present; Absent; ■ Not applicable]	Description [Important information for each item]	<b>Score</b> [0-5]
1. Preliminaries			
Title	1. Includes study aims 🖵 and design 🖵		
Abstract	1. Key information 📮		
(assess last)	2. Balanced 🖵 and informative 🗖		
Text	1. Sufficient detail others could reproduce 🖵		
assess last) 2. Clear/concise writing 🖵 table(s) 🖵 diagram(s) 🖵 figure(s) 🗖			
		Preliminaries [/	/5]

2. Introduction			
Background	1. Summary of current knowledge 📮		
	2. Specific problem(s) addressed and reason(s) for addressing		
Objective	1. Primary objective(s), hypothesis(es), or aim(s) 📮		
	2. Secondary question(s) 🗖		
	Is it worth continuing?	Introduction [/5]	1

3. Design			
Research design	1. Research design(s) chosen □and why □ 2. Suitability of research design(s) □		
Intervention, Treatment, Exposure	1. Intervention(s)/treatment(s)/exposure(s) chosen □and why □     2. Precise details of the intervention(s)/treatment(s)/exposure(s) □for each group □     3. Intervention(s)/treatment(s)/exposure(s) valid □and reliable □		
Outcome, Output, Predictor, Measure	tcome, Output,       1. Outcome(s)/output(s)/predictor(s)/measure(s) chosen and why         .:dictor, Measure       2. Clearly define outcome(s)/output(s)/predictor(s)/measure(s)         3. Outcome(s)/output(s)/predictor(s)/measure(s) valid and reliable		
Bias, etc	1. Potential bias  confounding variables  from effect modifiers  from interactions  from 2. Sequence generation  from group allocation  from group balance  from and by whom  from 3. Equivalent treatment of participants/cases/groups  from 4. Sequivalent treatment treatment of participants/cases/groups  from 4. Sequivalent treatment tre		

	Is it worth continuing?	Design [/5]	
4. Sampling			
Sampling method	1. Sampling method(s) chosen 🗖 and why 🗖 2. Suitability of sampling method 🗖		
Sample size	1. Sample size 📮 how chosen 📮 and why 🗖 2. Suitability of sample size 🗖		
Sampling protocol	1. Target/actual/sample population(s): description Dand suitability D 2. Participants/cases/groups: inclusion Dand exclusion Dcriteria		
	p. Recruitment of participants/cases/groups		

	Is it worth continuing?	Sampling [/5]
5. Data collection		
Collection method	1. Collection method(s) chosen 📮 and why 📮	
	2. Suitability of collection method(s) 🗅	
Collection protocol	1. Include date(s) 📮 location(s) 📮 setting(s) 📮 personnel 📮 materials 📮 processes 🗖 2. Method(s) to ensure/enhance quality of measurement/instrumentation 📮	
	3. Manage non-participation 🖵 withdrawal 🖵 incomplete/lost data 🗖	
	Is it worth continuing?	Data collection [/5]

	Is it worth continuing?	Data collection [/5]
6. Ethical matters		
Participant ethics	1. Informed consent 🖵 equity 🗖 2. Privacy 🖵 confidentiality/anonymity 🗖	
Researcher ethics	1. Ethical approval □ funding □ conflict(s) of interest □ 2. Subjectivities □ relationship(s) with participants/cases □	
	Is it worth continuing?	Ethical matters [/5]

7. Results		
Analysis, Integration, Interpretation method	1. A.I.I. method(s) for primary outcome(s)/output(s)/predictor(s) chosen □and why □ 2. Additional A.I.I. methods (e.g. subgroup analysis) chosen □and why □ 3. Suitability of analysis/integration/interpretation method(s) □	
Essential analysis	I. Flow of participants/cases/groups through each stage of research □     2. Demographic and other characteristics of participants/cases/groups □     3. Analyse raw data □ response rate □ non-participation/withdrawal/incomplete/lost data □	
Outcome, Output, Predictor analysis	Summary of results □and precision □for each outcome/output/predictor/measure     Consideration of benefits/harms □ unexpected results □ problems/failures □     S. Description of outlying data (e.g. diverse cases, adverse effects, minor themes) □	

 Results [/5]

 8. Discussion
 Results [/5]

 Interpretation
 1. Interpretation of results in the context of current evidence and objectives and objective anditext anditext and objectives and objective anditext and

9	. Total	
Т	otal score	1. Add all scores for categories 1–8

Crowe Critical Appraisal Tool (CCAT) :: Version 1.4 (19 November 2013) :: Michael Crowe (michael.crowe@my.jcu.edu.au)

Page 2 of 2

Paper two: Empirical Paper

# Experiences of Body Modification in Women with Experience of Self-Harm.

This paper has been broadly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the journal Body Image.

Author Guidelines are listed in Appendix A.

Supplementary information is presented within this paper to aid overall cohesion for thesis submission. This will be removed prior to journal submission.

Word Count: 7997

# Abstract

Self-harm behaviour has been widely investigated in the psychological literature. It is associated with an increased risk of suicide. There are similarities between selfharm behaviour and body modification behaviour, however there has been limited research into associations between these behaviours. This study used Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis to investigate the experiences of body modifications in eight women from the UK with experience of self-harm behaviours. The superordinate themes identified that both self-harm behaviours and body modifications are used as coping strategies, and that body modifications can be protective. This may have clinical implications in the future as presence of body modifications could alert clinicians to the possibility of self-harming behaviour. This could then be explored with the individual to assess if support is needed in relation to the self-harming behaviour. Further research is needed to investigate if obtaining body modifications reduces the incidences of self-harming behaviour and if there is any relationship between body modification behaviour and risk of suicide in people with experience of self-harm behaviour.

# Highlights

- Body modifications and self-harm are both used as coping strategies for emotions
- Body modifications can be protective
- Body modifications may be an indication of self-harm urges
- Clinicians should recognise this sign of self-harm urges and offer required support

# Introduction

This paper explores the experiences of body modification (BM) in women who have experience of self-harm (SH) behaviour. BMs may be used as an alternative to SH behaviours and clinical experience suggests the meaning and location of BMs may discourage individuals from engaging in SH behaviour. However, associations between these behaviours has received little attention in the literature. The meanings participants make of their experiences, and of any connections between BMs and SH behaviour, were explored using Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis. This paper includes clinical implications of the findings and suggestions for further research in this area.

# **Body Modification**

Wohlrab, Stahl, Rammsayer and Kappeler (2007) define 'body modification' as "the (semi-) permanent, deliberate alteration of the human body" (p.87). In this study, the term 'body modification' is used to encompass piercings ("an opening in any part of the body (except the earlobes) through which jewellery might be worn." Bone, Ncube, Nichols & Noah, 2008; p.2), tattoos ("the insertion of coloured pigment into the dermal layer through a series of punctures in the skin in order to create a permanent marking" Tiggemann & Golder, 2006; p.245), sub-dermal implants ("implantation of three-dimensional objects under the skin"; Hicinbothem, Gonsalves & Lester, 2006; p.351) and scarification (patterns of permanent scars in the skin; Kaatz, Elsner & Bauer, 2008).

A survey of 10,503 adults (48.8% male) aged 16 and over (the oldest age group analysed was ≥65 years) from the general population in England was conducted by Bone et al. (2008) to estimate the prevalence of body piercing, excluding earlobe piercings. They reported a prevalence rate in the whole sample of 10%. Body piercing was more common in women and younger age groups with almost half (46.2%) of the women aged 16-24 reporting having a piercing.

# Self-Harm

A range of terms have been used to describe SH. Feigenbaum (2010) defines SH as "a wide range of behaviours that involve the individual engaging in behaviour which causes damage, mutilation or destruction of the body" (p.116). The current National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance (2004; 2011) defines SH as "self-poisoning or injury, irrespective of the apparent purpose of the act" (2004, p.7). The guidance for long term management (NICE, 2011) excludes harm to the self arising from excessive alcohol or recreational drug consumption, starvation as a result of anorexia nervosa, or accidental harm to the self from their definition.

Accurate prevalence figures for rates of SH are challenging to obtain as many people who engage in SH behaviours keep this private (Mental Health Foundation (MHF), 2016); however, it is reported that the UK has the highest rates of SH of any European country (MHF, 2019). The Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (Kidger, Heron, Lewis, Evans & Gunnell, 2012), a large longitudinal study with 4810 participants, reported that 18.8% of participants aged 16-17 had ever self-harmed, with the lifetime prevalence of SH being higher in females than males..

SH generally occurs in young adults and is particularly common in those under 35 years of age (Hawton, 2004). Klonsky (2011) reported a lifetime prevalence of nonsuicidal self-injury (NSSI) of around six percent and higher lifetime prevalence among those aged 30 or less. Carr et al. (2016) found consistently higher rates of SH in females, with substantially higher rates of SH observed in females aged 15-24 years.

A strong link has been found between SH and psychiatric illnesses compared with a reference cohort of people who had a range of other conditions (Singhal, Ross, Seminog, Hawton & Goldacre, 2014). SH has been associated with an increased risk of suicide in a longitudinal study. People who presented to hospitals with non-fatal SH were found to have a risk of suicide 49 times greater than the general population in England and Wales (Hawton et al. 2015).

SH may be relatively unplanned or it may have been considered for some time (Hawton, 2004). Hawton states SH often occurs when an individual feels unable to cope with the problems they face and they are trapped in a painful situation. This behaviour is often explained as a way to 'blot out' distressing thoughts, to escape from their problems or to communicate their distress to those around them. It is often attributed by medical professionals as a way of communicating anger, causing guilt or trying to influence others, as well as a way of signalling distress.

As there are similarities in the actions of both BM and SH behaviours (they both involve causing physical damage to the body) BM could be regarded as a form of SH, albeit one that is perceived as less pathological and more socially acceptable. Stirn and Hinz (2008) suggest that the increasing popularity and accessibility of BMs may mean they are increasingly used as an alternative to self-harming behaviours.

# Functions of Self-Harm

Nock and Prinstein (2004) used a functional approach to examine SH behaviours. They considered previous research in this area and proposed that SH behaviour can be reinforced in both positive (followed by a favourable stimulus) or negative (removal of unpleasant stimuli) ways. They also proposed that this reinforcement may come from the individual themselves (automatic) or from others (social). SH can serve as a signal of distress; it is used when other, less intensive, communication strategies have failed and is reinforced by the caregiving behaviour it elicits from others (Nock, 2008). Motz (2010) argues that SH can be viewed as a communication that contains hope there will be a response and reveals an attempt to find a helpful response to the distress the individual is experiencing.

# Recommendations for Alternatives to Self-Harm

The current NICE guidance (NICE, 2011) recommends that if discontinuing SH behaviours is unrealistic in the short term, less destructive methods of SH, such as pinching, squeezing ice or snapping rubber bands on the wrist, should be discussed. McDougall, Armstrong & Trainor (2010) suggested that people who SH could draw or write on themselves as an alternative way to cope with strong feelings

#### Motivations for Obtaining Body Modifications

Hill, Ogletree and McCrary (2016) found the two most commonly given reasons for engaging in BMs were 'to express myself' and 'to be an individual'. Pentina and Spears (2011) found motivations for getting a tattoo can be based on the significance of the meaning of the tattoo design for the individual. Stirn (2003) reviewed psychological motivations for obtaining body piercings and found a variety of motivations including provocation by violating socially defined beauty standards, peer pressure, a rite of passage, fashion, a way to denote individuality or to commemorate both positive and negative experiences. Stirn suggests body piercing can be seen as therapeutic as the procedure is followed by a period of selfcare.

Relationships between Body Modifications and Mental Health The included review of the literature examining the relationship between BM and mental health reported four main categories: associations between BMs and mental health; associations between number of BMs and mental health; associations between BMs and past abuse; and associations of BMs with risk behaviours.

There is mixed evidence of the associations between BMs and mental health. Some studies reported an increased incidence of mental health conditions in people with BMs, while other studies found no such association. Some studies found that BMs were associated with improvements of some aspects of mental health, such as increased self-esteem and reduced anxiety and depression, and may be used in place of SH behaviour (Aizenman & Jensen, 2007; Bui, Rodgers, Simon, Jehel, Metcalf, Birmes & Schmitt, 2013; Cardasis, Huth-Bocks & Silk, 2008; Giles-Gorniak, Vandehey & Stiles, 2016; Iannaccone, Cella, Manzi, Visconti, Manzi & Cotrufo, 2013; Koch, Roberts, Armstrong & Owen, 2015; Owen, Armstrong, Koch & Roberts, 2013; Pajor, Broniarczyk-Dyła & Switalska, 2015).

An association between the number of BMs an individual has and mental health was found, with increasing numbers of BMs indicating a higher likelihood of mental distress (Bui et al. 2013; Cardasis et al. 2008; Koch et al. 2015; Owen et al. 2013). However, this was not reported by all studies included in the review.

An association between BMs and previous experiences of physical or sexual abuse was found and this may mediate the relationship between mental health and BMs (Aizenman & Jensen, 2007; Cardasis et al. 2008; Stirn & Hinz, 2008). There are mixed findings concerning the association between BM and risky behaviours, with one study finding an association and another study finding associations between some risky behaviours but not others. A further study found no association with risky behaviours, but did find an association with social and health behaviours (Bui et al. 2010; Giles-Gorniak et al. 2016; Owen et al. 2013).

#### Relationships between Body Modifications and Self-Harm

In some people who SH by cutting the onset of piercing is reported to coincide with the end of cutting behaviours, and 'cutters' have been found to have more piercings than 'non-cutters' (Stirn, 2003). This implies that the process of piercing may replace the need to cut and could be viewed as an attempt to cope with the dissociation that results from emotional pain and distress (Suyemoto, 1998).

Stirn and Hinz (2008) investigated the relationship between BMs and self-injury. A group of respondents who reported self-injury behaviour was compared with respondents who did not report self-injury behaviour to investigate if their motivations for obtaining BMs differed. The number of tattoos was not significantly different between the two groups; however, the 'self-cutting' group were found to have significantly more piercings than the non-self-injuring group. Some individuals in the 'self-cutting' group stopped this behaviour after they had BMs, suggesting that they may use BMs as a substitute.

Cutting can be considered a form of SH. Liu and Lester (2012) state this can be done professionally in the form of BMs such as piercing and scarification. They suggest further research should investigate the relationship between cutting, other forms of self-injurious behaviours and the role of BM. Claes and Vandereycken (2007) investigated the functions of SH stating that distinguishing between normal and abnormal SH may be helpful and highlighting that the distinction between 'normal' and 'abnormal' is dependent on the social viewpoint and the motive or function of the behaviour. As such, 'normal variants' of self-harming behaviour, including body piercing and tattooing, may exist as a way to take care of oneself.

## Aims

The current evidence suggests an association between BM and SH behaviours but has not explored the motivations and experiences of people who have engaged in

both. This study aims to explore the experiences of BM with people who currently, or have previously, engaged in SH behaviours to expand the knowledge base in this area. This study explores the sense people make of the associations between these behaviours to explore if there are relationships between these experiences.

## **Research Questions**

- What are the experiences of BM in people who have experience of engaging in SH behaviours?
- 2. What sense do people with experience of both BMs and SH make of the associations between these behaviours?

# Method

# Recruitment

Permission to conduct the study was obtained from the Staffordshire University Ethics Committee (appendix B). An interview schedule (appendix C) was developed to guide the semi-structured interviews with questions based on knowledge of this area from the existing literature. The content of the interview schedule was discussed with the second author.

Recruitment letters (appendices D and E) and posters (appendix F) were sent to five mental health charities in the local area, and twelve BM establishments (see appendix G for details of organisations contacted for recruitment). Emails with the same information were sent to two websites offering support to people engaging in SH behaviour. An account was created on the National Self-Harm Network (NSHN) online forum. Following their procedure for advertising research studies, a message was sent to the site moderators to obtain consent to post details of the study in the research section of the forum. A message with details of the study and contact details of the researcher was posted following consent from the moderators.

Despite the range of recruitment sites approached, no participants were recruited. An amendment was submitted to the Ethics Committee, requesting permission to recruit using social media and from relevant charities and services nationwide. Permission was requested to offer a gesture of gratitude for participating, and to add the use of instant messaging services as a method of completing interviews. Additional information regarding responding to risk when completing interviews remotely was included.

Following approval of the amendments, letters and posters (as before) were sent to two national mental health charities. The administrators of ten social media groups offering peer support for people with experience of SH behaviours, and six groups related to body modifications, were contacted and asked to share the recruitment poster. The groups were identified by searching for 'self-harm support' or 'body modification' on the social media sites. As many of these groups are 'private' (the group members and the contents of their posts is only visible to other members of the group) the administrators were contacted by private message asking if they would be willing to share the recruitment poster to avoid the researcher joining the groups as this may have been perceived by group members to be a violation of their privacy. The administrators of two SH support groups agreed to publicise the study. The administrator of one group invited the researcher to join the group and post a message and a copy of the research poster to the group. The researcher joined and posted a single message noting that they had been invited to join and the post had been approved by the administrator. A social media page was created for the study and the recruitment poster was shared from this page across a variety of social media platforms.

#### Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

People were eligible to participate if they were between 18 and 45 years of age, had a history of SH behaviour or were currently engaging in this behaviour, and had a history of BMs or were currently engaging in this behaviour. No restrictions were placed on the gender of participants. People were excluded from participating in the study if they were currently an inpatient in hospital, or were too physically or mentally unwell to participate.

Participants self-reported that they met these criteria. By contacting the researcher and consenting to participate in the research participants demonstrated their willingness to discuss their experiences of SH behaviour and BMs.

70

## Participants

132 participants expressed interest in participating in the study (109 from posters shared in support groups, 15 from the study page, six from 'shares' of the poster, one from the post on the NSHN forum, and one from seeing the poster in a local charity). Everyone who expressed an interest was contacted and asked to provide their email address to enable a copy of the Information Sheet (appendix H) to be sent to them. 75 people did not provide this information, so the information sheet was sent to 57 people. Potential participants were encouraged to ask questions regarding the study.

16 people agreed to participate in interviews. However, three people reconsidered and opted not to participate. Initially, no restrictions were placed on the country that participants could reside in. However, due to the level of interest in the study it was decided that participants would only be recruited from the UK to enable effective risk management. Following Kasket's (2009a, 2009b) protocol for responding to participant distress when using instant messenger (appendices I and J), participants were asked to provide the contact details of someone who could be contacted in an emergency. If risk issues were identified during the interviews, the emergency contact and/or the local emergency services would be contacted. It was felt that this presented a challenge if completing interviews with people outside of the UK. Due to these ethical concerns participants not residing in the UK were excluded, meaning a further four people were unable to participate. Participants were contacted using their preferred method of communication (email or instant messenger) and the rationale for this decision was explained to them.

Participants were emailed a copy of the consent form (appendix K) and returned an initialled and signed copy of the consent form before completing the interviews. Contact information was received from all participants at the beginning of the interview, following Kasket's (2009a) protocol, in case of situations involving risk such as statements of intention to engage in SH behaviour or indications of suicidality. This information was removed from the transcripts and stored separately. Due to the immediate nature of instant messaging, the researcher was alert to signs of potential distress, such as long pauses between responses. No signs of distress were identified. However, if distress was identified participants would have been asked if they wished to continue with the interview. If they had chosen to terminate the interview, debriefing would be commenced immediately, participants would be offered relaxation techniques to reduce agitation, and details of alternative sources of support (such as local charities) would be offered. Participants would be encouraged to remain in contact with the researcher until they felt able to keep themselves safe. The debrief letter (appendix L) was sent following the interview.

Nine female participants were interviewed; however, one individual withdrew their consent following the interview, but prior to analysis. The interviews for the remaining eight participants were used in the analysis. Table 1 (appendix M) contains relevant demographic and descriptive information about the participants. Participants were assigned pseudonyms which are used in the presentation of the findings.

## Study Design

Participants were given the opportunity to complete interviews face to face, using video calling software, by telephone or using instant messaging software to enable people who were geographically distant from the research site to participate. Seven participants chose to complete interviews using instant messaging software and one chose to complete their interview by telephone.

All interviews were completed as one conversation between the participant and researcher to ensure that information provided was kept private due to the sensitive nature of the topics discussed. Identifiable details were changed or removed prior to analysis and dissemination to ensure participants' ethical rights to privacy and anonymity were upheld (The British Psychological Society (BPS), 2017).

Kasket's (2009a, 2009b) protocols for responding to participant distress when conducting interviews using telephone, video calling software or instant messenger software were followed in line with good ethical practice (BPS, 2017). All participants were debriefed at the end of the interview and were provided with a
written debrief sheet (appendix L) with details of support services should they wish to access these later.

# Procedure

Interviews with participants were conducted as detailed above. The researcher used a conversational style in order to build rapport with the participants and encourage them to share their experiences. During the interviews, brief notes were taken as a prompt to explore interesting points the participant made in more depth if these were not expanded upon by the participant naturally. Copies were made of the typed conversation in interviews conducted using instant messaging software. This was entered on a word processing document for analysis. The telephone interview was digitally recorded using a Dictaphone and later transcribed verbatim using word processing software.

# Data Analysis

Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA) aims to provide a detailed exploration of the meaning participants make of their personal and social world through the meanings various experiences, events and states hold for them (Smith & Osborn, 2008). IPA is phenomenological in that it attempts to explore the participant's personal experiences and is concerned with their personal perception of an object or event rather than trying to produce an objective statement about the object or event itself. The researcher plays an active role in the research process by attempting to get close to the participant's personal world. IPA acknowledges that the researcher is not able to do this directly or completely as their knowledge of the participant's world is influenced by their own ideas and perceptions. IPA involves a 'double-hermeneutic' process - a two stage interpretation process whereby the researcher is attempting to make sense of the sense that the participant is making of their world (Smith & Osborn, 2008).

Smith and Osborn (2008) state there is not a prescribed methodology for conducting IPA and argue that qualitative analysis is a personal process and the result of the interpretations of the researcher at each stage of the analysis. However, Smith, Flowers, and Larkin (2009) have developed guidelines for undertaking analyses using IPA. They detail six stages of analysis, following verbatim transcription: Reading and re-reading the transcript; Initial noting of points of interest within the transcript; Developing emergent themes that describe and summarise the initial notes; Searching for connections across emergent themes to group similar themes together and extend the analysis by linking these themes with existing psychological theory; Moving to the next case; and Looking for patterns across cases. They recommend completing the first four stages with each case, before completing the final two stages.

Analysis was completed following these guidelines. Detailed notes were completed after the interview to reflect on the process of the interview and the reactions this provoked in the researcher. An idiographic approach to data analysis was used to examine one transcript in detail before examining the other transcripts. The first transcript was read in detail. Initial thoughts and comments on aspects of the transcript considered interesting were noted in the right margin. Following this, the transcript was re-read, and the comments made in the left margin to denote emergent themes, based upon the initial notes (see appendix N for evidence of the analysis process). The emergent themes were noted in a new document (appendix O) and possible connections between them were considered. This process was repeated for the subsequent interviews before the identified themes from all interviews were brought together to develop superordinate themes with links to psychological theory enabling investigation of any common patterns across the interviews. Some themes were dropped whilst developing the superordinate themes themes as they did not have sufficient support.

During the analysis process, extracts of the transcripts were analysed by peers and the second author to assess the validity of the emerging themes ensuring they were plausible, credible, trustworthy and accurately represented the experiences of the participants by demonstrating how they emerged from the data in the original transcripts.

# Reflexivity

The choice of research topic was influenced by my status as someone with BMs, though I do not consider myself part of the BM community. I hold a positive view of

BMs, in contrast to much of the published literature in this area that focuses on the negative consequences of BMs, such as infections. Although I have no personal experience of SH, a close family member has engaged in SH behaviour in the past, meaning I have some insight into this behaviour and view it in a positive way, as a coping strategy.

This research was conducted using a realist epistemological position. A realist method reports the experiences and reality of participants. A simple, unidirectional relationship is assumed between meaning, experience and language (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This position claims that the world exists independently of the researcher and the researcher discovers the truth about the phenomenon being investigated.

The research presented here does not use a purely realist position as there are inevitable elements of interpretation. My experiences and opinions of body modification and SH affected all aspects of the research. The topics included in the interview schedule reflect what I felt was important and this clearly affects the content of the interviews. My interpretation of the interview transcripts affects the analysis as it influences what I felt was important to include, the initial codes that were created, how these were combined to create themes and how the themes were grouped together to create super-ordinate themes. My interpretations of the data affected what was felt *not* to be important and not examined further. However, I did not interpret the data at a deeper level. It was assumed that the participants were reporting their experiences in a factual manner.

During the interviews I did not disclose my position in relation to BMs or SH unless the participant raised this. Only one participant enquired about this at the end of the interview. This may have influenced the information the participants shared as they may have had made assumptions about my position in relation to these phenomena and given different answers if they were aware of my position.

# Findings

Two superordinate themes relating BM and SH were identified from the interviews with participants, shown in table 2. Both SH and BMs were used by participants as a

strategy for coping with their emotions or challenging life events. BMs appear to be protective for many participants.

**Coping Strategies** 

In many interviews, participants described that they engaged in SH behaviours to manage their emotions:

"I was going through a lot of negative feelings and pain was something that gave me a nice feeling." (Emma; 257-258)

For many participants who began engaging in SH behaviour during their teenage years, this was a way to manage the different, stronger emotions that occurred at this time. However, for some participants the SH behaviour began as a way to manage their emotions after traumatic events, such as bullying or sexual violence:

> "I was bullied at school because I was different and it made me so upset so instead of taking my anger out on others I took it out on myself. Then I managed to stop for a year from when I was 14 to 15 and then I was sexually assaulted which made me do it again up until I met [my partner]" (Alice; 127-130)

Similarly, some participants expressed that they had obtained BMs as a coping strategy following traumatic events.

"Last July. My ex-partner had raped me [...] In October. I'd gotten my tongue pierced. And that was my way of coping I guess because it was a self-harm but I got something from it too" (Becky; 223-236)

Participants described SH behaviour as a way to control and manage the pain they were experiencing.

"it takes my mind off everything and instead of having pain in my mind that I can't control I've got pain I can control" (Clare; 258-

259)

Superordinate theme	Subordinate themes	Participants
Coping Strategies	SH as coping strategy	Alice, Clare, Emma, Becky, Fay, Grace, Imogen
	BM as coping strategy	Fay, Becky, Imogen
	Trauma	Alice, Clare, Emma, Becky, Daisy, Grace
	Alternative coping strategies failed	Clare, Fay, Imogen
	Pain	Alice, Emma, Clare, Becky, Fay, Daisy, Imogen
	Distraction	Alice, Clare, Emma, Fay
	Physical & mental	Clare, Becky
	Meaning of tattoos	All
	Planned vs. unplanned	Clare, Emma, Becky, Fay, Daisy, Grace
Body Modification as Protective	BM as alternative to SH	Clare, Emma, Becky, Fay, Daisy, Imogen
	Indirect pain	Fay, Imogen
	Money	Clare, Becky, Daisy, Grace, Imogen
	Perceptions of others	Alice, Becky, Daisy, Grace, Imogen
	BMs/Tattoos as protective	Clare, Emma, Imogen
	BM as positive	Alice, Clare, Becky, Fay

Table 2: Theme table showing superordinate and subordinate themes, and the participants that contributed to each theme.

This was related to both the natural physical responses to the SH behaviour and the SH behaviour acting as a distraction

"I was going through a lot of negative feelings and pain was something that gave me a nice feeling. It served many purposes it gave me a nice feeling, I was in a place where I felt like I deserved bad things... I also found it helped to ground me if I was getting worked up and overwhelmed - almost calming, taking focus away from what else was going on" (Emma; 257-261)

Often, participants reported that self-harming behaviour was utilised when alternative coping strategies had been attempted but had not helped them effectively manage their distress or reduce the desire to engage in self-harming behaviour

> "Before I cut I would sit for hours upset and crying trying to find things to do to distract my self hoping I wouldn't cut again! I tried all the different techniques like twanging a bobble or holding ice in your hand" (Clare; 274-276)

Some participants described seeing blood flowing as a result of self-harming behaviour acted as a visual representation of the expression of the feelings they had been attempting to contain

> "when it bled it was like all the frustration feelings were coming out it was like a mind visual thing. Like I'd imagine all the frustration chemicals coming out of my body when I saw the bleeding." (Becky; 192-194)

For these participants seeing the physical wounds healing was a metaphor for their emotional wounds healing. They described the importance of being able to see the healing process taking place, reflecting the emotional healing that was happening.

*"I deal with physical, visible pain better then mental, emotional pain [...] I think it's because I can visibly see it getting better.* 

Whereas mental pain I have to live with that day in day out" (Becky; 285-289).

However, there were some differences between SH behaviour and obtaining BMs. All participants reported that their BMs, particularly tattoos, had meaning for them.

"All of my tattoos mean something to me" (Becky; 62)

However, participants did not report any meaning behind their SH behaviour. A number indicated that SH behaviour was unplanned, and undertaken in response to emotions, whereas obtaining BMs was planned in advance.

> Another big difference is that I would self harm as a direct result of how I was feeling. Getting a tattoo has a lot of consideration, planning and takes time to arrange. I don't get really overwhelmed and walk into the tattooist to see someone right that second and get anything just so that I can experience it, but with self harm that was pretty much when and how quickly it would happen (Emma; 218-223)

For many participants their tattoos were memorial tattoos as a reminder of a loved one who had died, possibly indicating that obtaining a tattoo is part of the grieving process for these individuals and one strategy that they use to manage their feelings around the loss.

> "I have a tattoo on my right hip that says [date in roman numerals] Which translates to the [date] which was the date that my nan died. I got this tattoo when I was 16 in memory of her" (Alice; 48-50)

Body Modification as Protective

Many participants reported that they obtained BMs as a replacement for SH as this reduced the feeling of needing to SH to manage their emotions

"I had had the uncomfortable (pain) of the tattoo and along with seeing the Slight bleeding had settled the sh [self-harm] urges" (Fay; 114-115)

Many participants reported experiencing similar feelings when obtaining BMs as they did when they self-harmed.

"I still have a positive internal reaction to pain. I'm not really sure how to describe it, other than not sexual? Endorphins or something? I don't know the science behind it, just a "nice" feeling. I made a promise to my Husband that I would not self harm any more, and while I think about it a lot I don't believe I would ever go through with it again. But getting a tattoo gives me the same nice feeling, and it's nice to be able to experience that without breaking the commitment I made" (Emma; 207-213)

Some participants obtained BMs when they had decided to stop self-harming.

"the big dragon one I had that shortly after I decided to stop selfharming" (Imogen; 240-241)

For these participants it was important that the pain they experienced was not caused by themselves

"I was finally able to feel some pain without it being myself directly doing it, [...] at that point I wanted to Avoid any pain with blood myself as I saw it as a weakness [...] I'd held off from actual sh for so long so to do something directly to myself to cause the blood and pain made me as weak and pathetic as my mind is constantly telling me I am [...] the blood was an effect of a 'normal' pain, so it calmed my urges as I'd seen it and felt it, but it wasn't my hand that had caused it so I hadn't failed at being a human / wasn't weak" (Fay; 137-150)

Therefore, BMs could be viewed as an alternative to SH behaviour and may be protective by reducing the desire to engage in SH behaviours. However, obtaining

BMs is not always an accessible alternative to engaging in SH behaviours due to the cost implications of obtaining BMs.

"when I had the second one and I remember feeling yeah I could really get into this it's really ticking a lot of the boxes. Obviously yeah I haven't got that kind of money to to keep doing that every time I want to self harm" (Imogen; 237-239)

For some participants the perception of other people was important. They felt a BM, particularly a tattoo, would enable them to experience the same feelings in a way that is more socially acceptable, thereby avoiding negative reactions from others.

> "I thought I'd self harm but instead of it being cuts and people asking why I did it. I have people complimenting the art I have instead of judging the cuts" (Becky; 118-119)

This meant that they were able to avoid negative feelings, such as guilt and shame.

"because I was hiding it and keeping it secret obviously every injury I had to have pretty good explanation for, so you know having to, not having to set up the lie it it made it so much easier" (Imogen; 255-258)

For some participants the protective element of their tattoos was not just limited to the physical sensations they experienced while obtaining them, or the reduction of negative judgements from themselves or others. The meaning behind the design of their tattoo was protective as it represented a positive symbol for recovery from SH behaviours

> "The first one I got is on my left wrist and says 'courage' with an outline of a butterfly (which I associate with self harm recovery). I got this to remind me that even when I don't feel like it, I always have the courage to push forward - it's a good visual reminder" (Fay; 57-59)

One participant obtained a tattoo at a time in their life when they were experiencing very low mood and suicidal ideation. The tattoo replaced SH behaviour and acted as a reminder of their reason for living until the intensity of these feelings had reduced.

> "when I was about 17 I was really suicidal and because one of the things that I kind of promised myself I said no I wanna see my favourite band first before I do anything. So I used to actually cut kind of like a symbol that was for the band in that spot, and then when I turned 18 about I got it tattooed on there, and when I was 19 I saw my band and then after that I wasn't suicidal fortunately" (Imogen; 51-56)

# Discussion

This study aimed to explore the experiences of BM with people who currently, or have previously engaged in SH behaviours and to provide insight into the sense people make of the associations between these behaviours to explore if there are any relationships between them.

This area has received only limited attention in the literature. However, the response to the recruitment advertisement in this study suggests that this is a topic of great interest and importance to people who engage in SH behaviour. Stirn and Hinz (2008) reported associations between SH and BMs in a number of participants. However, as this was a questionnaire study they were unable to explore this association in depth and examine the motivations behind it.

This study identified two super-ordinate themes from interviews with participants: 'coping strategies' and 'body modifications as protective'.

Both SH and BMs were used by participants as a coping strategy for managing their emotions, in line with previous research findings that people engage in SH behaviours to change their emotional state (Chapman, Gratz & Brown, 2006; Edmondson, Brennan & House, 2016; National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health, 2012). However, this is the first study to report a relationship between BMs and emotion management, suggesting there are similarities in the function of these behaviours for individuals who currently engage, or have previously engaged, in both behaviours.

The finding that many participants obtained BMs in order to manage their urges to engage in SH behaviour supports this relationship. Many participants reported similarities between the two behaviours in terms of both emotional changes and physical sensations. Stirn and Hinz (2008) reported some of their participants ceased self-cutting after obtaining BMS and hypothesised that they used BMs as a substitute for self-cutting. The current study supports this hypothesis and extends it by providing evidence that the participants consciously decided to obtain BMs to reduce their urges to engage in SH behaviours.

BMs tend to receive more positive reactions from other people than SH does. Societal attitudes towards tattoos have changed in recent years. Tattoos have historically been viewed as a sign of deviance but they became 'mainstream' in the 1990s (Larsen, Patterson & Markham, 2014). BM could be an alternative to SH for individuals who experience the desire to engage in these behaviours without the negative reactions associated with SH behaviour. However, BMs cannot be considered as a direct alternative to SH behaviour due to the cost implications of obtaining professional BMs.

BMs may be protective by reducing the urge to SH. The meaning behind tattoos can also play an important protective role for some individuals. Many participants disclosed that their tattoos were positive symbols of their recovery from SH.

# Implications

Participants report using both SH and BM to manage their emotions, suggesting these behaviours may serve a similar function. Many participants report using BM as an alternative to SH, stating that BM reduces their desire to engage in SH behaviours when other strategies have been unsuccessful suggesting BM is different from these other strategies. Clinicians should explore the motivations behind BMs with individuals with a history of engaging in SH behaviour by discussing any visible BMs and exploring how the individual was feeling when they obtained them, and any associations they have noticed with SH behaviour. Obtaining new BMs may be an indicator that they have been struggling with urges to SH providing an opportunity to discuss if they are having intrusive thoughts about engaging in SH behaviour and require additional support. Clinicians should continue to offer alternative emotion regulation strategies.

This study utilised an innovative method of conducting interviews (instant messaging software). Feedback from participants indicated this did not affect their willingness to participate, and for some this method encouraged them to participate. For instance, one participant stated that she was unwilling to participate when the study was originally publicised. She was unable to travel to Staffordshire University to complete a face to face interview and did not feel comfortable with using the telephone or video calling to complete the interviews. However, she felt comfortable using instant messenger to do this. Another participant said during her interview that she found typing easier than talking to people about difficult feelings.

Instant messaging software has become an increasingly common method of communication (Ofcom, 2017). Instant messaging offers an immediate and flexible method of communication. Early research suggested that text-based forms of computer mediated communication (such as instant messaging) may lose non-verbal cues present in face to face communication, including facial expressions, gestures or tone (Culnan & Markus, 1987; Daft & Lengel, 1984; Kiesler, 1986; Rice & Love, 1987). However, the development of emoticons ("A representation of a facial expression such as a smile or frown, formed by various combinations of keyboard characters and used to convey the writer's feelings or intended tone."; Oxford Dictionaries, 2019) and, more recently, emojis ("small digital images that are used to express ideas or emotions"; Oxford Dictionaries, 2018) enables users to convey emotional expression within text-based communications (Kaye, Wall & Malone, 2016), supporting the user to express themselves as intended in a similar manner to the non-verbal cues in face to face conversations (Walther & D'Addario, 2001). Emoticons aid personal expression and reduce the ambiguity of textual statements

by establishing the intended emotional tone (Kaye et al. 2016). All participants who used instant messaging services used emoticons or emojis in their interviews.

The Staffordshire University Ethics Committee expressed concern regarding the quality of data obtained using this method. However, the quality and richness of data obtained from interviews using instant messenger was comparable to that obtained from the interview completed by telephone. The data obtained from the instant messenger interviews contained fewer filler words (such as 'erm' or 'y'know') and less repetition meaning the transcripts were shorter. This did not affect the analysis for this study, but may impact on studies using other forms of analysis.

The interviews conducted using instant messenger took longer to complete than the one conducted by telephone (an average of three hours for instant messenger versus one hour for the telephone interview). There is therefore an additional time commitment for participants which should be borne in mind when seeking ethical approval and informing participants about the study. Whilst conducting these interviews was an extra time commitment for the researcher, this was off-set by the reduction of time needed for transcription of the interviews which was substantially reduced. Other researchers should consider this methodology, especially if working with people of a generation comfortable with this technology.

Consideration of issues surrounding risk and safety for participants is important due to the remote nature of this method of communication. Kasket's (2009a, 2009b) protocol for conducting interviews using instant messenger was followed for all interviews. All participants were aware of the need to provide contact information for this reason before consenting to participate and no participants expressed concern around providing this information. Regular checks on the emotional state of the participants were conducted, especially if they had disclosed a particularly sensitive issue, to limit the risk and allow for intervention at an early stage if this was necessary. No risk issues were identified during the interviews, so no interventions were necessary in this study.

85

# Limitations

Whilst this is the first study to explore the experiences of BMs in people who have experienced SH behaviour, it does have a number of limitations. All participants self-identified as having experience of both SH and BM behaviours and no attempts were made to verify this. Different people may have had different interpretations of what is classed as 'self-harm' or 'body modification', despite the definitions used in this study being provided. All participants reported SH by cutting. Some other forms of SH, such as burning or self-hitting, were mentioned by some participants but cutting was the main form of SH for them. Other forms of SH, such as overdosing on medications, were not mentioned by any participants. As SH by cutting is focused on the skin people who SH in this way may have a different relationship with BMs, which are also focused on the skin, than people who SH in other ways.

All participants had, or were considering, tattoos and most had (or had previously had) piercings. Although the recruitment poster specified more 'extreme' types of BMs, such as scarification or sub-dermal implants, none of the participants had these forms of BM. This may reflect the fact that all participants were recruited from mental health or SH related areas. A number of establishments that provide BMs were contacted and asked to display the recruitment poster, however none were willing to advertise the study. This may be due to caution about the aims of the study, and an assumed negative implication (Giles-Gorniak et al. 2016). There may be differences in the experiences of people who have experience of SH and have more 'extreme' BMs. For instance, participants in this study viewed their BMs as more socially acceptable than SH. Schramme (2008) reports that some 'extreme' BMs such as "cuttings, [and] subcutaneous implants" are currently regarded by "many" as "a repellent mutilation" (p.10). Therefore, those with more 'extreme' BMs may have a different experience of public perceptions of their BMs and may experience different associations with SH.

Further development of some subordinate themes may have added further information about the relationship between BMs and SH. For instance further examination of the theme 'Indirect pain' may have revealed important differences between self-administered SH and BM administered by others. The theme

86

'Perceptions of others' discussed how participants felt others reacted to their BMs or indications of SH, such as scars. This may be related to the visibility of BMs or SH scars. Further exploration could reveal if any particular aspects relating to the visibility were important for participants, such as whether participants felt they had control over when these were displayed and to whom. Further development of this theme may also reveal whether participants felt differently about this in relation to BMs compared to SH scars.

# Recommendations for Further Research

A number of additional themes were apparent in the interviews but did not directly answer the research question so have not been discussed. These themes warrant further investigation to add to the knowledge base around SH and to provide further information that may be helpful in treating this behaviour.

For example, a number of participants described the SH behaviour as 'addictive' and engaged with it because they enjoyed doing so rather than in response to a trigger such as dysphoric mood. This may have implications for the treatments suggested for this behaviour. Some participants felt there was a lack of understanding of SH behaviour amongst professionals meaning there was a lack of support available.

For some participants BMs appeared to impact on their body image in a positive way. This warrants further investigation as it may be relevant to other areas of mental health such as eating disorders. The existing literature has found mixed results in this area (lannaccone et al. 2013; Kertzman, Kagan, Hegedish, Lapidus and Weizman, 2013).

Finally, many participants who were no longer engaging in SH behaviour stopped this due to relationships with others. For some this was related to mood improvement as a result of new romantic relationships, whereas for others it was related to having a responsibility to care for another. This warrants further investigation into the factors that are important in ending SH behaviour.

Further research into the experiences of BM in people who have self-harmed in ways other than cutting would increase the knowledge base in this area and may

lead to different treatment approaches for different forms of SH. Similarly, research into the experience of SH in people with more 'extreme' BMs would add information about whether this differs from more socially acceptable forms of BM. Research in the area of 'extreme' BMs is sparse, possibly due to reluctance of people with these kinds of BMs to engage with research due to perceptions of the behaviour being pathologised (Schramme, 2008).

Additionally, further research in this area would benefit from attempting to recruit participants from BM establishments to explore if there are differences in motivations or associations between these behaviours compared to people who are engaging with support for their mental health or SH behaviour. Recruitment from BM establishments would enable exploration of whether BM is used as an emotion management strategy in people who have never engaged in SH behaviours.

There was a great deal of interest in participating in this study. This unfortunately meant that not everyone who wished to participate was able to. This suggests this is a topic of great importance to people who engage in SH behaviour. The participants in this study were drawn from the general population of the United Kingdom; however, people from many different countries, including the United States, Australia and India, expressed an interest in participating. It is recommended that future research is conducted in these countries.

Further research should be conducted to investigate if obtaining BMs reduces the incidence or frequency of SH behaviour, and if so, further exploration of the possible mechanism for this would be beneficial to guide future interventions for SH behaviour.

# References

- Aizenman, M., & Jensen, M. A. C. (2007). Speaking through the body: The incidence of self-injury, piercing, and tattooing among college students. *Journal of College Counseling*, *10*(1), 27–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1882.2007.tb00004.x
- Bone, A., Ncube, F., Nichols, T., & ND, N. (2008). Body piercing in England: a survey of piercing at sites other than earlobe. *BMJ: British Medical Journal (International Edition)*, 336(7658), 1426–1428. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39580.497176.25
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Bui, E., Rodgers, R., Cailhol, L., Birmes, P., Chabrol, H., & Schmitt, L. (2010). Body piercing and psychopathology: a review of the literature. *Psychotherapy And Psychosomatics*, 79(2), 125–129. https://doi.org/10.1159/000276376
- Bui, E., Rodgers, R., Simon, N. M., Jehel, L., Metcalf, C. A., Birmes, P., & Schmitt, L. (2013). Body piercings and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in young adults. *Stress And Health: Journal Of The International Society For The Investigation Of Stress*, 29(1), 70–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2427
- Cardasis, W., Huth-Bocks, A., & Silk, K. R. (2008). Tattoos and antisocial personality disorder. *Personality and Mental Health*, *2*(3), 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmh.43
- Carr, M. J., Ashcroft, D. M., Kontopantelis, E., Awenat, Y., Cooper, J., Chew-graham,
  C., ... Webb, R. T. (2016). The epidemiology of self-harm in a UK-wide primary
  care patient cohort , 2001 2013. *BMC Psychiatry*, 1–10.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-0753-5

- Chapman, A. L., Gratz, K. L., & Brown, M. Z. (2006). Solving the puzzle of deliberate self-harm : The experiential avoidance model, 44, 371–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.03.005
- Claes, L., & Vandereycken, W. (2007). Self-injurious behavior: differential diagnosis and functional differentiation. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 48(2), 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2006.10.009
- Culnan, M. J., & Markus, M. L. (1987). Information technologies. In F. M. Jablin, L. L. Putnam, K. H. Robers, & L. W. Porter (Eds.), *Handbook of organizational communication: An interdisciplinary perspective* (pp. 420–443). Newbery Park, CA: Sage. In Xu, L., Yi, C., & Xu, Y. (2007). Emotional Expression Online: the Impact of Task, Relationship and Personality Perception on Emoticon Usage in Instant Messenger. In *Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS)*.
- Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1984). Information richness: a new approach to managerial behavior and organizational design. *Research in Organizational Behavior, 6*, 191–233. In Xu, L., Yi, C., & Xu, Y. (2007). Emotional Expression Online: the Impact of Task, Relationship and Personality Perception on Emoticon Usage in Instant Messenger. In *Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS)*.
- Edmondson, A. J., Brennan, C. A., & House, A. O. (2016). Non-suicidal reasons for self-harm: A systematic review of self-reported accounts. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 191, 109–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.043
- Feigenbaum, J. (2010). Self-harm The solution not the problem: The Dialectical Behaviour Therapy model. *Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy*, 24(2), 115–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/02668731003707873

Giles-Gorniak, A. N., Vandehey, M. A., & Stiles, B. L. (2016). Understanding

differences in mental health history and behavioral choices in a community sample of individuals with and without body modifications. *Deviant Behavior*, *37*(8), 852–860. https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2015.1060798

- Hawton, K. (2004). Deliberate self-harm. *Medicine*, *32*(8), 38–42. https://doi.org/10.1383/medc.32.8.38.43174
- Hawton, K., Bergen, H., Cooper, J., Turnbull, P., Waters, K., Ness, J., & Kapur, N.
  (2015). Suicide following self-harm : Findings from the Multicentre Study of self-harm in England , 2000 2012. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 175, 147–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.12.062
- Hicinbothem, J., Gonsalves, S., & Lester, D. (2006). Body modification and suicidal behavior. *Death Studies*, *30*(4), 351–363.
- Hill, B. M., Ogletree, S. M., & McCrary, K. M. (2016). Body Modifications in College Students: Considering Gender, Self-Esteem, Body Appreciation, and Reasons for Tattoos. *College Student Journal*, 50(2), 246–252.
- Iannaccone, M., Cella, S., Manzi, S. A., Visconti, L., Manzi, F., & Cotrufo, P. (2013).
   My body and me: Self-injurious behaviors and body modifications in eating disorders—Preliminary results. *Eating Disorders: The Journal of Treatment & Prevention*, 21(2), 130–139. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2013.761087
- Kaatz, M., Elsner, P., & Bauer, A. (2008). Body-modifying concepts and dermatologic problems : tattooing and piercing, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2007.10.004
- Kasket, E. (2009a). Protocol for responding to participant distress: adapted version for instant messaging. London Metropolitan University. Available from: e.kasket@londonmet.ac.uk.

Kasket, E. (2009b). Protocol for responding to participant distress: Adapted version

for telephone or Skype. London Metropolitan University. Available from: e.kasket@londonmet.ac.uk.

- Kaye, L. K., Wall, H. J., & Malone, S. A. (2016). Computers in Human Behavior "Turn that frown upside-down ": A contextual account of emoticon usage on different virtual platforms. *Computers in Human Behavior, 60*, 463–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.02.088
- Kertzman, S., Kagan, A., Vainder, M., Lapidus, R., & Weizman, A. (2013). Interactions between risky decisions, impulsiveness and smoking in young tattooed women. *BMC Psychiatry*, 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-13-278
- Kidger, J., Heron, J., Lewis, G., Evans, J., & Gunnell, D. (2012). Adolescent self-harm and suicidal thoughts in the ALSPAC cohort: a self-report survey in England. *BMC Psychiatry*, 12(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-12-69
- Kiesler, S. (1986). The hidden message in computer networks. *Harvard Business Review*, *64*, 46–58. In Xu, L., Yi, C., & Xu, Y. (2007). Emotional Expression Online: the Impact of Task, Relationship and Personality Perception on Emoticon Usage in Instant Messenger. In *Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS).*
- Klonsky, E. D. (2011). Non-suicidal self-injury in United States adults: prevalence, sociodemographics, topography and functions, 41, 1981–1986. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291710002497
- Koch, J. R., Roberts, A. E., Armstrong, M. L., & Owen, D. C. (2015). Tattoos, gender, and well-being among American college students. *The Social Science Journal*, 52(4), 536–541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2015.08.001
- Larsen, G., Patterson, M., & Markham, L. (2014). A deviant art: Tattoo-related stigma in an era of commodification. *Psychology & Marketing*, *31*(8), 670–681. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20727

- Liu, C. M., & Lester, D. (2012). Body Modification Sites and Abuse History. Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 21(1), 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2012.630340
- McDougall, T., Armstrong, M., & Trainor, G. (2010). *Helping Children and Young People Who Self-Harm: An Introduction to Self-Harming and Suicidal Behaviours for Health Professionals*. London: Taylor & Francis.

Mental Health Foundation. (2016). Fundamental Facts About Mental Health.

- Mental Health Foundation. (2019). Self-Harm. Retrieved April 18, 2019, from https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/s/self-harm
- Motz, A. (2010). Self-harm as a sign of hope. *Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy*, 24(2), 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1080/02668731003707527
- National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health. (2012). *Self-Harm: The NICE Guideline on Longer-term Management*. The British Psychological Society and The Royal College of Psychiatrists.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. (2004). Self-harm in over 8s: short-term management and prevention of recurrence Clinical guideline, (July 2004).
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Self-harm in over 8s: Long-term management (2011).
- Nock, M. K. (2008). Actions speak louder than words: An elaborated theoretical model of the social functions of self-injury and other harmful behaviors.
   Applied and Preventive Psychology, 12, 159–168.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appsy.2008.05.002

Nock, M. K., & Prinstein, M. J. (2004). A functional approach to the assessment of

self-mutilative behavior. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72(5), 885–890. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.72.5.885

- Ofcom. (2017). Adults ' media use and attitudes. Retrieved from https://www.ofcom.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0020/102755/adultsmedia-use-attitudes-2017.pdf
- Owen, D. C., Armstrong, M. L., Koch, J. R., & Roberts, A. E. (2013). College students with body art: Well-being or high-risk behavior? *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, *51*(10), 20–28. https://doi.org/10.3928/02793695-20130731-03
- Oxford Dictionaries. (2018). Emoji. Retrieved December 29, 2018, from https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/emoji
- Oxford Dictionaries. (2019). Emoticon. Retrieved March 31, 2019, from https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/emoticon
- Pajor, A. J., Broniarczyk-Dyła, G., & Świtalska, J. (2015). Satisfaction with life, selfesteem and evaluation of mental health in people with tattoos or piercings.
   *Psychiatria Polska*, 49(3), 559–573. https://doi.org/10.12740/PP/27266
- Pentina, I., & Spears, N. (2011). Reasons behind body art adoption: what motivates young adults to acquire tattoos? *Journal of Customer Behaviour*, 10(1), 73–94. https://doi.org/10.1362/147539211X570528
- Rice, R. E., & Love, G. (1987). Electronic Emotion: Socioemotional content in a computer- mediated communication network. *Communication Research*, *14*, 85–108. In Xu, L., Yi, C., & Xu, Y. (2007). Emotional Expression Online: the Impact of Task, Relationship and Personality Perception on Emoticon Usage in Instant Messenger. In *Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems (PACIS).*

Schramme, T. (2008). SHOULD WE PREVENT NON-THERAPEUTIC MUTILATION AND

EXTREME BODY MODIFICATION ?, 22(1), 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8519.2007.00566.x

- Singhal, A., Ross, J., Seminog, O., Hawton, K., & Goldacre, M. J. (2014). Risk of selfharm and suicide in people with specific psychiatric and physical disorders : comparisons between disorders using English national record linkage, *107*(5), 194–204. https://doi.org/10.1177/0141076814522033
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). *Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis: Theory, Method and Research*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2008). Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis. In J. A. Smith (Ed.), *Qualitative Psychology: A Practical Guide to Research Methods* (2nd ed., pp. 53–80). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Stirn, A. (2003). Body piercing: Medical consequences and psychological motivations. *Lancet*, 361(9364), 1205–1215. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12955-8
- Stirn, A., & Hinz, A. (2008). Tattoos, body piercings, and self-injury: Is there a connection ? Investigations on a core group of participants practicing body modification, 18(May). https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300701506938
- Suyemoto, K. L. (1998). The functions of self-mutilation. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *18*(5), 531–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7358(97)00105-0
- The British Psychological Society. (2017). Ethics Guidelines for Internet-mediated Research. Leicester: The British Psychological Society. https://doi.org/INF206/04.2017
- Tiggemann, M., & Golder, F. (2006). Tattooing: an expression of uniqueness in the appearance domain. *Body Image*, *3*(4), 309–315.

- Walther, J. B., & D'Addario, K. P. (2001). The Impact of Emoticons on Message Interpretation in Computer-Mediated Communication. *Social Science Computer Review*, 19(324). https://doi.org/10.1177/089443930101900307
- Wohlrab, S., Stahl, J., Rammsayer, T., & Kappeler, P. M. (2007). Differences in personality characteristics between body-modified and non-modified individuals: Associations with individual personality traits and their possible evolutionary implications. *European Journal of Personality*, 21(7), 931–951. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.642

# **Appendices**

**Appendix A: Journal Guidelines** 

# **BODY IMAGE**

An International Journal of Research

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- Description p.1 p.2
- Impact Factor
- Abstracting and Indexing p.2
- **Editorial Board** p.2
- **Guide for Authors** p.4



Body Image is an international, peer-reviewed journal that publishes highquality, scientific articles on **body image** and human **physical appearance**. Body image is a multi-faceted concept that refers to persons' perceptions and attitudes about their own body, particularly but not exclusively its appearance. The journal invites contributions from a broad range of disciplines psychological science, other social and behavioral sciences, and medical and health sciences. The journal publishes original research articles, brief research reports, theoretical and review papers, and science-based practitioner reports of interest. The journal gives an annual award for the best doctoral dissertation in this field.

Suitable topics for submission of manuscripts include:

•The effects of body image and physical characteristics (e.g., body size, attractiveness, physical disfigurements or disorders) on psychological functioning, interpersonal processes, and quality of life;

•Body image and physical appearance in the full range of medical and allied health contexts:

- •Body image and physical appearance in diverse cultural contexts;
- •Validation of assessments of the multidimensional body image construct:

•Factors that influence positive and negative body image development;

•Adaptive and maladaptive body image processes and their clinically relevant consequences on

psychosocial functioning and quality of life;

•Relationship of body image to **behavioral** variables (e.g., exercise and other physical activity, eating and weight-control behaviors, grooming and appearancemodifying behaviors, and social behaviors);

•Scientific evaluation of interventions to promote positive body image or to



ISSN: 1740-1445



prevent or treat body image difficulties and disorders.

#### Benefits to authors

We also provide many author benefits, such as free PDFs, a liberal copyright policy, special discounts on Elsevier publications and much more. Please click here for more information on our author services.

Please see our Guide for Authors for information on article submission. If you require any further information or help, please visit our Support Center

IMPACT FACTOR 2017: 3.595 © Clarivate Analytics Journal Citation Reports 2018

ABSTRACTING AND INDEXING Scopus CINAHL PsycINFO Current Contents/Social & Behavioral Sciences Google Scholar MEDLINE®

#### EDITORIAL BOARD

#### Editor-in-Chief

Tracy L. Tylka, Dept. of Psychology, The Ohio State University, 1465 Mt. Vernon Avenue, Marion, Ohio, 43302, USA, Fax: +1 614 292 5817

#### Founding Editor Thomas F. Cash

#### Associate Editors

Jessica M. Alleva, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands Rachel M. Calogero, Western University, London, Ontario, Canada Matthew Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, Deakin University, Burwood, Victoria, Australia Sarah K. Murnen, Kenyon College, Gambier, Ohio, USA Rachel F. Rodgers, Northeastern University (NU), Boston, Massachusetts, USA Viren Swami, Anglia Ruskin University, Cambridge, UK

#### **Editorial Board Members**

Carolyn B. Becker, Trinity University, San Antonio, Texas, USA Kristin Billaud Feragen, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway Aaron J. Blashill, Massachusetts General Hospital, Charlestown, Massachusetts, USA Catherine P. Cook-Cottone, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, New York, USA Alexandra F. Corning, University of Notre Dame, Notre Dame, Indiana, USA Anne E. Cox, Washington State University, Pullman, Washington, USA Canice E. Crerand, Ohio State University Medical Center, Columbus, Ohio, USA Phillippa C. Diedrichs, University of the West of England, Bristol, UK Jasmine Fardouly, Macquarie University, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia Helen J. Fawkner, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, UK Ellen E. Fitzsimmons-Craft, Washington University in St.Louis School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA Debra L. Franko, Northeastern University (NU), Boston, Massachusetts, USA

David Frederick, Chapman University, Orange, California, USA Rick M. Gardner, University of Colorado Denver, Denver, Colorado, USA Meghan M. Gillen, Penn State University, University Park, Pennsylvania, USA David H. Gleaves, University of South Australia, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia Scott Griffiths, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia Sarah Grogan, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester, UK Emma Halliwell, University of the West of England, Bristol, UK Diana Harcourt, University of the West of England, Bristol, UK Thomas B. Hildebrandt, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, New York, USA Andrew J. Hill, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK Kristina Holmqvist Gattario, Göteborgs Universitet, Göteborg, Sweden Kristin J. Homan, Grove City College, Grove City, Pennsylvania, USA Todd Jackson, University of Macau, Macau, China Josee L. Jarry, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, Canada Bryan T. Karazsia, The College of Wooster, Wooster, Ohio, USA Allison C. Kelly, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada Ashley Kroon Van Diest, Cincinnati Children's Hospital, Cincinnati, Ohio, USA Ingela L. Kvalem, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway James E. Leone, Bridgewater State University, Bridgewater, Massachusetts, USA Michael P. Levine, Kenyon College, Gambier, Ohio, USA Janet M. Liechty, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, Illinois, USA Miriam Liss, University of Mary Washington, Fredericksburg, Virginia, USA Leanne Magee, The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA Charlotte N. Markey, Rutgers University, Camden, New Jersey, USA Kathleen A. Martin Ginis, University of British Columbia, Kelowna, British Columbia, Canada Marita McCabe, Australian Catholic University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia Don R. McCreary, Brock University, St. Catharines, Ontario, Canada Todd G. Morrison, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada Kate E. Mulgrew, University of the Sunshine Coast, Sippy Downs, Queensland, Australia Stuart B. Murray, University of California at San Francisco (UCSF), San Francisco, California, USA Taryn A. Myers, Virginia Wesleyan College, Norfolk, Virginia, USA Michael C. Parent, University of Texas at Austin, Austin, Texas, USA Susan J. Paxton, La Trobe University, Melbourne (Bundoora), Victoria, Australia Trent A. Petrie, University of North Texas, Denton, Texas, USA Katharine A. Phillips, Weill Cornell Medicine, New York, New York, USA Niva Piran, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada Lina A. Ricciardelli, Deakin University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia David B. Sarwer, Temple University, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA Lauren M. Schaefer, Neuropsychiatric Research Institute, Fargo, North Dakota, USA Gemma Sharp, Monash University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia Linda Smolak, Kenyon College, Gambier, Ohio, USA J. Kevin Thompson, University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida, USA Idia B. Thurston, University of Memphis, Memphis, Tennessee, USA Marika Tiggemann, Flinders University, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia Lenny R. Vartanian, UNSW Australia, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia David Veale, Maudsley Hospital, London, UK Cortney S. Warren, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, Nevada, USA Jennifer B. Webb, University of North Carolina at Charlotte, Charlotte, North Carolina, USA Eleanor H. Wertheim, La Trobe University, Melbourne (Bundoora), Victoria, Australia Nichole L. Wood-Barcalow, Chalmers P. Wylie VA Ambulatory Care Center, Columbus, Ohio, USA Zali Yager, Victoria University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia Yuko Yamamiya, Temple University, Tokyo, Japan

# Types of Papers

The journal publishes original research articles, brief research reports, systematic reviews and meta-analyses (see PRISMA checklist: http://www.prisma-statement.org/), methodological/protocol articles, invited or topic-approved review articles\*, and science-based practitioner reports of interest. The journal also gives an annual award for the best doctoral dissertation in this field.

Brief Research Reports. These should not exceed 2,500 words (excluding abstract, references, tables, figures and appendices). Up to a total of two one-page tables, figures, and/or appendices are permitted. The number of references cannot exceed 30.

While regular-length papers have no explicit limits in terms of numbers of words, tables/figures, and references, authors are encouraged to keep their length below 35 total pages. A paper's length must be justified by its empirical strength and the significance of its contribution to the literature.

\*For authors who wish to submit a review, please contact the Editor-in-Chief (tylka.2@osu.edu) for approval of topic prior to submission.

#### The Seymour Fisher Outstanding Body Image Dissertation Annual Award

The journal gives an annual award for the best doctoral dissertation in this field. Click here for more information.

## Submission checklist

You can use this list to carry out a final check of your submission before you send it to the journal for review. Please check the relevant section in this Guide for Authors for more details.

# Ensure that the following items are present:

One author has been designated as the corresponding author with contact details:

- E-mail address
- Full postal address

All necessary files have been uploaded: *Manuscript*:

- Include keywords
- All figures (include relevant captions)
- All tables (including titles, description, footnotes)
- Ensure all figure and table citations in the text match the files provided
- Indicate clearly if color should be used for any

figures inprint *Graphical Abstracts / Highlights files* (where applicable) *Supplemental files* (where applicable)

Further considerations

- Manuscript has been 'spell checked' and 'grammar checked'
- All references mentioned in the Reference List are cited in the text, and viceversa

• Permission has been obtained for use of copyrighted material from other sources (including the Internet)

• A competing interests statement is provided, even if the authors have no competing interests to declare

- Journal policies detailed in this guide have been reviewed
- Referee suggestions and contact details provided, based on journal requirements

For further information, visit our Support Center.

#### **BEFORE YOU BEGIN**

#### Ethics in publishing

Please see our information pages on Ethics in publishing and Ethical guidelines for journal publication.

# Studies in humans and animals

If the work involves the use of human subjects, the author should ensure that the work described has been carried out in accordance with The Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans. The manuscript should be in line with the Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals and aim for the inclusion of representative human populations (sex, age and ethnicity) as per those recommendations. The terms sex and gender should be used correctly.

Authors should include a statement in the manuscript that informed consent was obtained for experimentation with human subjects. The privacy rights of human subjects must always be observed.

All animal experiments should comply with the ARRIVE guidelines and should be carried out in accordance with the U.K. Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, 1986 and associated guidelines, EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments, or the National Institutes of Health guide for the care and use of Laboratory animals (NIH Publications No. 8023, revised 1978) and the authors should clearly indicate in the manuscript that such guidelines have been followed. The sex of animals must be indicated, and where appropriate, the influence (or association) of sex on the results of the study.

# Declaration of interest

All authors must disclose any financial and personal relationships with other people or organizations that could inappropriately influence (bias) their work. Examples of potential competing interests include employment, consultancies, stock ownership. honoraria. paid expert testimony, patent applications/registrations, and grants or other funding. Authors must disclose any interests in two places: 1. A summary declaration of interest statement in the title page file (if double-blind) or the manuscript file (if single-blind). If there are no interests to declare then please state this: 'Declarations of interest: none'. This summary statement will be ultimately published if the article is accepted. 2. Detailed disclosures as part of a separate Declaration of Interest form, which forms part of the journal's official records. It is important for potential interests to be declared in both places and that the information matches. More information.

# Submission declaration and verification

Submission of an article implies that the work described has not been published

previously (except in the form of an abstract, a published lecture or academic thesis, see 'Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication' for more information), that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere, that its publication is approved by all authors and tacitly or explicitly by the responsible authorities where the work was carried out, and that, if accepted, it will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, including electronically without the written consent of the copyright- holder. To verify originality, your article may be checked by the originality detection service Crossref Similarity Check.

#### Preprints

Please note that preprints can be shared anywhere at any time, in line with Elsevier's sharing policy. Sharing your preprints e.g. on a preprint server will not count as prior publication (see 'Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication' for more information).

# Use of inclusive language

Inclusive language acknowledges diversity, conveys respect to all people, is sensitive to differences, and promotes equal opportunities. Articles should make no assumptions about the beliefs or commitments of any reader, should contain nothing which might imply that one individual is superior to another on the grounds of race, sex, culture or any other characteristic, and should use inclusive language throughout. Authors should ensure that writing is free from bias, for instance by using 'he or she', 'his/her' instead of 'he' or 'his', and by making use of job titles that are free of stereotyping (e.g. 'chairperson' instead of 'chairman' and 'flight attendant' instead of 'stewardess').

# Changes to authorship

Authors are expected to consider carefully the list and order of authors **before** submitting their manuscript and provide the definitive list of authors at the time of the original submission. Any addition, deletion or rearrangement of author names in the authorship list should be made only **before** the manuscript has been accepted and only if approved by the journal Editor. To request such a change, the Editor must receive the following from the **corresponding author**: (a) the reason for the change in author list and (b) written confirmation (e-mail, letter) from all authors that they agree with the addition, removal or rearrangement. In the case of addition or removal of authors, this includes confirmation from the author being added or removed.

Only in exceptional circumstances will the Editor consider the addition, deletion or rearrangement of authors **after** the manuscript has been accepted. While the Editor considers the request, publication of the manuscript will be suspended. If the manuscript has already been published in an online issue, any requests approved by the Editor will result in a corrigendum.

# Article transfer service

This journal is part of our Article Transfer Service. This means that if the Editor feels your article is more suitable in one of our other participating journals, then you may be asked to consider transferring the article to one of those. If you agree, your article will be transferred automatically on your behalf with no need to reformat. Please note that your article will be reviewed again by the new journal. More information.

# Copyright

Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' (see more information on this). An e-mail will be sent to

the corresponding author confirming receipt of the manuscript together with a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' form or a link to the online version of this agreement.

Subscribers may reproduce tables of contents or prepare lists of articles including abstracts for internal circulation within their institutions. Permission of the Publisher is required for resale or distribution outside the institution and for all other derivative works, including compilations and translations. If excerpts from other copyrighted works are included, the author(s) must obtain written permission from the copyright owners and credit the source(s) in the article. Elsevier has preprinted forms for use by authors in these cases.

For gold open access articles: Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete an 'Exclusive License Agreement' (more information). Permitted third party reuse of gold open access articles is determined by the author's choice of user license.

# Author rights

As an author you (or your employer or institution) have certain rights to reuse your work. More information.

Elsevier supports responsible sharing

Find out how you can share your research published in Elsevier journals.

# Role of the funding source

You are requested to identify who provided financial support for the conduct of the research and/or preparation of the article and to briefly describe the role of the sponsor(s), if any, in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication. If the funding source(s) had no such involvement then this should be stated.

#### Funding body agreements and policies

Elsevier has established a number of agreements with funding bodies which allow authors to comply with their funder's open access policies. Some funding bodies will reimburse the author for the gold open access publication fee. Details of existing agreements are available online.

# Open access

This journal offers authors a choice in publishing their research:

# Subscription

• Articles are made available to subscribers as well as developing countries and patient groups through our universal access programs.

• No open access publication fee payable by authors.

• The Author is entitled to post the accepted manuscript in their institution's repository and make this public after an embargo period (known as green Open Access). The published journal article cannot be shared publicly, for example on ResearchGate or Academia.edu, to ensure the sustainability of peer- reviewed research in journal publications. The embargo period for this journal can be found below. *Gold open access* 

• Articles are freely available to both subscribers and the wider public with permitted reuse.

• A gold open access publication fee is payable by authors or on their behalf, e.g. by their research funder or institution.

Regardless of how you choose to publish your article, the journal will apply the

same peer review criteria and acceptance standards.

For gold open access articles, permitted third party (re)use is defined by the following Creative Commons user licenses:

#### Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY)

Lets others distribute and copy the article, create extracts, abstracts, and other revised versions, adaptations or derivative works of or from an article (such as a translation), include in a collective work (such as an anthology), text or data mine the article, even for commercial purposes, as long as they credit the author(s), do not represent the author as endorsing their adaptation of the article, and do not modify the article in such a way as to damage the author's honor orreputation.

#### Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs (CC BY-NC-ND)

For non-commercial purposes, lets others distribute and copy the article, and to include in a collective work (such as an anthology), as long as they credit the author(s) and provided they do not alter or modify the article.

The gold open access publication fee for this journal is **USD 1800**, excluding taxes. Learn more about Elsevier's pricing policy: https://www.elsevier.com/openaccesspricing.

#### Green open access

Authors can share their research in a variety of different ways and Elsevier has a number of green open access options available. We recommend authors see our green open access page for further information. Authors can also selfarchive their manuscripts immediately and enable public access from their institution's repository after an embargo period. This is the version that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes author-incorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and in editor-author communications. Embargo period: For subscription articles, an appropriate amount of time is needed for journals to deliver value to subscribing customers before an article becomes freely available to the public. This is the embargo period and it begins from the date the article is formally published online in its final and fully citable form. Find out more.

This journal has an embargo period of 24 months.

#### Elsevier Researcher Academy

Researcher Academy is a free e-learning platform designed to support early and mid-career researchers throughout their research journey. The "Learn" environment at Researcher Academy offers several interactive modules, webinars, downloadable guides and resources to guide you through the process of writing for research and going through peer review. Feel free to use these free resources to improve your submission and navigate the publication process with ease.

# Language (usage and editing services)

Please write your text in good English (American or British usage is accepted, but not a mixture of these). Authors who feel their English language manuscript may require editing to eliminate possible grammatical or spelling errors and to conform to correct scientific English may wish to use the English Language Editing service available from Elsevier's WebShop.

#### Submission

Our online submission system guides you stepwise through the process of

entering your article details and uploading your files. The system converts your article files to a single PDF file used in the peer-review process. Editable files (e.g., Word, LaTeX) are required to typeset your article for final publication. All correspondence, including notification of the Editor's decision and requests for revision, is sent by e-mail.

# Peer review

This journal operates a double blind review process. All contributions will be initially assessed by the editor for suitability for the journal. Papers deemed suitable are then typically sent to a minimum of two independent expert reviewers to assess the scientific quality of the paper. The Editor is responsible for the final decision regarding acceptance or rejection of articles. The Editor's decision is final. More information on types of peer review.

#### Double-blind review

This journal uses double-blind review, which means the identities of the authors are concealed from the reviewers, and vice versa. More information is available on our website. To facilitate this, please include the following separately: *Title page (with author details):* This should include the title, authors' names, affiliations, acknowledgements and any Declaration of Interest statement, and a complete address for the corresponding author including an e-mail address. *Blinded manuscript (no author details):* The main body of the paper (including the references, figures, tables and any acknowledgements) should not include any identifying information, such as the authors' names or affiliations.

#### Use of word processing software

It is important that the file be saved in the native format of the word processor used. The text should be in single-column format. Keep the layout of the text as simple as possible. Most formatting codes will be removed and replaced on processing the article. In particular, do not use the word processor's options to justify text or to hyphenate words. However, do use bold face, italics, subscripts, superscripts etc. When preparing tables, if you are using a table grid, use only one grid for each individual table and not a grid for each row. If no grid is used, use tabs, not spaces, to align columns. The electronic text should be prepared in a way very similar to that of conventional manuscripts (see also the Guide to Publishing with Elsevier). Note that source files of figures, tables and text graphics will be required whether or not you embed your figures in the text. See also the section on Electronic artwork.

To avoid unnecessary errors you are strongly advised to use the 'spell-check' and 'grammar-check' functions of your word processor.

#### Article structure

#### Introduction

State the objectives of the work and provide an adequate background, avoiding a detailed literature survey or a summary of the results.

# Material and methods

Provide sufficient details to allow the work to be reproduced by an independent researcher. Methods that are already published should be summarized, and indicated by a reference. If quoting directly from a previously published method, use quotation marks and also cite the source. Any modifications to existing methods should also be described.

## Results

Results should be clear and concise, describing the findings and their associated statistical basis. Consider the use of tables and figures for statistical details.

#### Discussion

This section shouldpresent the theoretical, empirical, and applied implications of the results, not simply repeat the findings. The study's limitations should be explicitly recognized. A combined Results and Discussion section may be appropriate.

#### Conclusions

The main conclusions of the study may be presented in a short Conclusions section, which may stand alone or form a subsection of a Discussion or Results and Discussion section.

#### Appendices

If there is more than one appendix, they should be identified as A, B, etc. Formulae and equations in appendices should be given separate numbering: Eq. (A.1), Eq. (A.2), etc.; in a subsequent appendix, Eq. (B.1) and so on. Similarly for tables and figures: Table A.1; Fig. A.1, etc.

# Essential title page information

• *Title.* Concise and informative. Titles are often used in information-retrieval systems. Avoid abbreviations and formulae where possible.

• Author names and affiliations. Please clearly indicate the given name(s) and family name(s) of each author and check that all names are accurately spelled. You can add your name between parentheses in your own script behind the English transliteration. Present the authors' affiliation addresses (where the actual work was done) below the names. Indicate all affiliations with a lower-case superscript letter immediately after the author's name and in front of the appropriate address. Provide the full postal address of each affiliation, including the country name and, if available, the e-mail address of each author.

• **Corresponding author.** Clearly indicate who will handle correspondence at all stages of refereeing and publication, also post-publication. This responsibility includes answering any future queries about Methodology and Materials. **Ensure that the e-mail address is given and that contact details are kept up to date by the corresponding author.** 

• **Present/permanent address.** If an author has moved since the work described in the article was done, or was visiting at the time, a 'Present address' (or 'Permanent address') may be indicated as a footnote to that author's name. The address at which the author actually did the work must be retained as the main, affiliation address. Superscript Arabic numerals are used for such footnotes.

# Abstract

A concise and factual abstract is required. The abstract should state briefly the purpose of the research, the principal results and major conclusions. An abstract is often presented separately from the article, so it must be able to stand alone. For this reason, References should be avoided, but if essential, then cite the author(s) and year(s). Also, non-standard or uncommon abbreviations should be avoided, but if essential they must be defined at their first mention in the abstract itself.

The abstract should be between 150 and 200 words.

#### Graphical abstract

Although a graphical abstract is optional, its use is encouraged as it draws more attention to the online article. The graphical abstract should summarize the

contents of the article in a concise, pictorial form designed to capture the attention of a wide readership. Graphical abstracts should be submitted as a separate file in the online submission system. Image size: Please provide an image with a minimum of  $531 \times 1328$  pixels (h × w) or proportionally more. The image should be readable at a size of  $5 \times 13$  cm using a regular screen resolution of 96 dpi. Preferred file types: TIFF, EPS, PDF or MS Office files. You can view Example Graphical Abstracts on our information site.

Authors can make use of Elsevier's Illustration Services to ensure the best presentation of their images and in accordance with all technical requirements.

## Highlights

Highlights are mandatory for this journal. They consist of a short collection of bullet points that convey the core findings of the article and should be submitted in a separate editable file in the online submission system. Please use 'Highlights' in the file name and include 3 to 5 bullet points (maximum 85 characters, including spaces, per bullet point). You can view example Highlights on our information site.

# Keywords

Immediately after the abstract, provide a maximum of 6 keywords, using American spelling and avoiding general and plural terms and multiple concepts (avoid, for example, 'and', 'of'). Be sparing with abbreviations: only abbreviations firmly established in the field may be eligible. These keywords will be used for indexing purposes.

# Abbreviations

For economy, consider using abbreviations or acronyms for key terms that appear often in the paper. Introduce the abbreviation parenthetically after the term's first mention in the paper. Ensure consistency of abbreviations throughout the paper. Such abbreviations that are unavoidable in the abstract must be defined at their first mention there, as well as in the footnote. Ensure consistency of abbreviations throughout the article.

#### Acknowledgements

Collate acknowledgements in a separate section at the end of the article before the references and do not, therefore, include them on the title page, as a footnote to the title or otherwise. List here those individuals who provided help during the research (e.g., providing language help, writing assistance or proof reading the article, etc.).

#### Formatting of funding sources

List funding sources in this standard way to facilitate compliance to funder's requirements:

Funding: This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health [grant numbers xxxx, yyyy]; the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, Seattle, WA [grant number zzzz]; and the United States Institutes of Peace [grant number aaaa].

It is not necessary to include detailed descriptions on the program or type of grants and awards. When funding is from a block grant or other resources available to a university, college, or other research institution, submit the name of the institute or organization that provided the funding.

If no funding has been provided for the research, please include the following sentence:

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

# Math formulae

Please submit math equations as editable text and not as images. Present simple formulae in line with normal text where possible and use the solidus (/) instead of a horizontal line for small fractional terms, e.g., X/Y. In principle, variables are to be presented in italics. Powers of e are often more conveniently denoted by exp. Number consecutively any equations that have to be displayed separately from the text (if referred to explicitly in the text).

# Footnotes

Footnotes should be used sparingly. Number them consecutively throughout the article. Many word processors can build footnotes into the text, and this feature may be used. Otherwise, please indicate the position of footnotes in the text and list the footnotes themselves separately at the end of the article. Do not include footnotes in the Reference list.

# Artwork

Electronic artwork General points

- Make sure you use uniform lettering and sizing of your original artwork.
- Embed the used fonts if the application provides that option.

• Aim to use the following fonts in your illustrations: Arial, Courier, Times New Roman, Symbol, or use fonts that look similar.

- Number the illustrations according to their sequence in the text.
- Use a logical naming convention for your artwork files.
- Provide captions to illustrations separately.
- Size the illustrations close to the desired dimensions of the published version.
- Submit each illustration as a separate file.
- A detailed guide on electronic artwork is available.

You are urged to visit this site; some excerpts from the detailed information are given here.

# Formats

If your electronic artwork is created in a Microsoft Office application (Word, PowerPoint, Excel) then please supply 'as is' in the native document format. Regardless of the application used other than Microsoft Office, when your electronic artwork is finalized, please 'Save as' or convert the images to one of the following formats (note the resolution requirements for line drawings, halftones, and line/halftone combinations given below):

EPS (or PDF): Vector drawings, embed all used fonts.

TIFF (or JPEG): Color or grayscale photographs (halftones), keep to a minimum of 300 dpi.

TIFF (or JPEG): Bitmapped (pure black & white pixels) line drawings, keep to a minimum of 1000 dpi. TIFF (or JPEG): Combinations bitmapped line/half-tone (color or grayscale), keep to a minimum of 500 dpi.

Please do not:

• Supply files that are optimized for screen use (e.g., GIF, BMP, PICT, WPG); these typically have a low number of pixels and limited set of colors;

- Supply files that are too low in resolution;
- Submit graphics that are disproportionately large for the content.

Formats

Regardless of the application used, when your electronic artwork is finalised, please "save as" or convert the images to one of the following formats (Note the resolution requirements for line drawings, halftones, and line/halftone combinations given below.):
EPS: Vector drawings. Embed the font or save the text as "graphics". TIFF: Colour or greyscale photographs (halftones): always use a minimum of 300 dpi. For colour images always use RGB.

TIFF: Bitmapped line drawings: use a minimum of 1000 dpi.

TIFF: Combinations bitmapped line/half-tone (colour or greyscale): a minimum of 500 dpi is required.

DOC, XLS or PPT: If your electronic artwork is created in any of these Microsoft Office applications please supply "as is".

#### Please do not:

- Supply embedded graphics in your wordprocessor (spreadsheet, presentation) document;
- Supply files that are optimised for screen use (like GIF, BMP, PICT, WPG); the resolution is too low;
- Supply files that are too low in resolution;
- Submit graphics that are disproportionately large for the content.

#### Color artwork

Please make sure that artwork files are in an acceptable format (TIFF (or JPEG), EPS (or PDF), or MS Office files) and with the correct resolution. If, together with your accepted article, you submit usable color figures then Elsevier will ensure, at no additional charge, that these figures will appear in color online (e.g., ScienceDirect and other sites) regardless of whether or not these illustrations are reproduced in color in the printed version. For color reproduction in print, you will receive information regarding the costs from Elsevier after receipt of your accepted article. Please indicate your preference for color: in print or online only. Further information on the preparation of electronic artwork.

#### Figure captions

Ensure that each illustration has a caption. Supply captions separately, not attached to the figure. A caption should comprise a brief title (**not** on the figure itself) and a description of the illustration. Keep text in the illustrations themselves to a minimum but explain all symbols and abbreviations used.

#### Tables

Please submit tables as editable text and not as images. Tables can be placed either next to the relevant text in the article, or on separate page(s) at the end. Number tables consecutively in accordance with their appearance in the text and place any table notes below the table body. Be sparing in the use of tables and ensure that the data presented in them do not duplicate results described elsewhere in the article. Please avoid using vertical rules and shading in table cells.

#### References Citation in text

Please ensure that every reference cited in the text is also present in the reference list (and vice versa). Personal communications may be cited (with exact date) in the text but are not included in the reference list. Unpublished studies or papers may be cited but must include a date (year) and follow APA style. Citing reference as "in press" indicates that the work has been accepted for publication."

#### Data references

This journal encourages you to cite underlying or relevant datasets in your manuscript by citing them in your text and including a data reference in your Reference List. Data references should include the following elements: author

name(s), dataset title, data repository, version (where available), year, and global persistent identifier. Add [dataset] immediately before the reference so we can properly identify it as a data reference. The [dataset] identifier will not appear in your published article.

#### References in a special issue

Please ensure that the words 'this issue' are added to any references in the list (and any citations in the text) to other articles in the same Special Issue.

#### Reference management software

Most Elsevier journals have their reference template available in many of the most popular reference management software products. These include all products that support Citation Style Language styles, such as Mendeley and Zotero, as well as EndNote. Using the word processor plug-ins from these products, authors only need to select the appropriate journal template when preparing their article, after which citations and bibliographies will be automatically formatted in the journal's style. If no template is yet available for this journal, please follow the format of the sample references and citations as shown in this Guide. If you use reference management software, please ensure that you remove all field codes before submitting the electronic manuscript. More information on how to remove field codes.

Users of Mendeley Desktop can easily install the reference style for this journal by clicking the following link:

http://open.mendeley.com/use-citation-style/body-image

When preparing your manuscript, you will then be able to select this style using the Mendeley plug- ins for Microsoft Word or LibreOffice.

#### Reference style

*Text:* Citations in the text should follow the referencing style used by the American Psychological Association. You are referred to the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, Sixth Edition, ISBN 978-1-4338-0561-5, copies of which may be ordered online or APA Order Dept.,

P.O.B. 2710, Hyattsville, MD 20784, USA or APA, 3 Henrietta Street, London, WC3E 8LU, UK.

*List:* references should be arranged first alphabetically and then further sorted chronologically if necessary. More than one reference from the same author(s) in the same year must be identified by the letters 'a', 'b', 'c', etc., placed after the year of publication.

Examples:

Reference to a journal publication: Van der Geer, J., Hanraads, J. A. J., & Lupton, R. A. (2010). The art of writing a scientific article.

*Journal of Scientific Communications, 163*, 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.Sc.2010.00372. Reference to a journal publication with an article number:

Van der Geer, J., Hanraads, J. A. J., & Lupton, R. A. (2018). The art of writing a scientific article. *Heliyon*, *19*, e00205.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2018.e00205. Reference to a book:

Strunk, W., Jr., & White, E. B. (2000). The elements of style. (4th ed.). New York: Longman, (Chapter 4).

Reference to a chapter in an edited book: Mettam, G. R., & Adams, L. B. (2009). How to prepare an electronic version of your article. In B. S. Jones, & R. Z. Smith (Eds.), *Introduction to the electronic age* (pp. 281–304). New York: E-Publishing Inc.

#### Reference to a website:

Cancer Research UK. Cancer statistics reports for the UK. (2003). http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/ aboutcancer/statistics/cancerstatsreport/ Accessed 13 March 2003. Reference to a dataset:

[dataset] Oguro, M., Imahiro, S., Saito, S., Nakashizuka, T. (2015). *Mortality data for Japanese oak wilt disease and surrounding forest compositions*. Mendeley Data, v1. https://doi.org/10.17632/xwj98nb39r.1.

Reference to a conference paper or poster presentation:

Engle, E.K., Cash, T.F., & Jarry, J.L. (2009, November). The Body Image Behaviours Inventory-3: Development and validation of the Body Image Compulsive Actions and Body Image Avoidance Scales. Poster session presentation at the meeting of the Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Therapies, New York, NY.

#### Video

Elsevier accepts video material and animation sequences to support and enhance your scientific research. Authors who have video or animation files that they wish to submit with their article are strongly encouraged to include links to these within the body of the article. This can be done in the same way as a figure or table by referring to the video or animation content and noting in the body text where it should be placed. All submitted files should be properly labeled so that they directly relate to the video file's content. . In order to ensure that your video or animation material is directly usable, please provide the file in one of our recommended file formats with a preferred maximum size of 150 MB per file, 1 GB in total. Video and animation files supplied will be published online in the electronic version of your article in Elsevier Web products, including ScienceDirect. Please supply 'stills' with your files: you can choose any frame from the video or animation or make a separate image. These will be used instead of standard icons and will personalize the link to your video data. For more detailed instructions please visit our video instruction pages. Note: since video and animation cannot be embedded in the print version of the journal, please provide text for both the electronic and the print version for the portions of the article that refer to this content.

#### Supplementary material

Supplementary material such as applications, images and sound clips, can be published with your article to enhance it. Submitted supplementary items are published exactly as they are received (Excel or PowerPoint files will appear as such online). Please submit your material together with the article and supply a concise, descriptive caption for each supplementary file. If you wish to make changes to supplementary material during any stage of the process, please make sure to provide an updated file. Do not annotate any corrections on a previous version. Please switch off the 'Track Changes' option in Microsoft Office files as these will appear in the published version.

#### Research data

This journal encourages and enables you to share data that supports your research publication where appropriate, and enables you to interlink the data with your published articles. Research data refers to the results of observations or experimentation that validate research findings. To facilitate reproducibility and data reuse, this journal also encourages you to share your software, code, models, algorithms, protocols, methods and other useful materials related to the project.

Below are a number of ways in which you can associate data with your article or make a statement about the availability of your data when submitting your manuscript. If you are sharing data in one of these ways, you are encouraged to cite the data in your manuscript and reference list. Please refer to the "References" section for more information about data citation. For more information on depositing, sharing and using research data and other relevant research materials, visit the research data page.

#### Data linking

If you have made your research data available in a data repository, you can link your article directly to the dataset. Elsevier collaborates with a number of repositories to link articles on ScienceDirect with relevant repositories, giving readers access to underlying data that gives them a better understanding of the research described.

There are different ways to link your datasets to your article. When available, you can directly link your dataset to your article by providing the relevant information in the submission system. For more information, visit the database linking page.

For supported data repositories a repository banner will automatically appear next to your published article on ScienceDirect.

In addition, you can link to relevant data or entities through identifiers within the text of your manuscript, using the following format: Database: xxxx (e.g., TAIR: AT1G01020; CCDC: 734053; PDB: 1XFN).

#### Mendeley Data

This journal supports Mendeley Data, enabling you to deposit any research data (including raw and processed data, video, code, software, algorithms, protocols, and methods) associated with your manuscript in a free-to-use, open access repository. During the submission process, after uploading your manuscript, you will have the opportunity to upload your relevant datasets directly to *Mendeley Data*. The datasets will be listed and directly accessible to readers next to your published article online.

For more information, visit the Mendeley Data for journals page.

#### Data in Brief

*Body Image* is now partnered with Data in Brief! You have the option of converting any or all parts of your raw research data into one or more data articles that host and describe your data.

*Data in Brief* articles can be submitted as an additional file directly alongside your original research manuscript by using this template. If your research article is accepted by *Body Image*, your data article will automatically be transferred over to *Data in Brief*, where it will be independently reviewed, indexed, given a DOI and made publicly available online upon publication.

To celebrate the launch of this co-submission partnership, the open access fee for Data in Brief will be fully waived for all articles submitted alongside the original research article before 31 December 2018. After this date, the usual open access fee of 500 USD will payable upon acceptance and publication of your data article. Full details can be found on the Data in Brief homepage.

#### Data statement

To foster transparency, we encourage you to state the availability of your data in your submission. This may be a requirement of your funding body or institution. If your data is unavailable to access or unsuitable to post, you will have the opportunity to indicate why during the submission process, for example by stating that the research data is confidential. The statement will appear with your published article on ScienceDirect. For more information, visit the Data Statement page.

#### AFTER ACCEPTANCE

#### Online proof correction

Corresponding authors will receive an e-mail with a link to our online proofing system, allowing annotation and correction of proofs online. The environment is similar to MS Word: in addition to editing text, you can also comment on figures/tables and answer questions from the Copy Editor. Web-based proofing provides a faster and less error-prone process by allowing you to directly type your corrections, eliminating the potential introduction of errors.

If preferred, you can still choose to annotate and upload your edits on the PDF version. All instructions for proofing will be given in the e-mail we send to authors, including alternative methods to the online version and PDF.

We will do everything possible to get your article published quickly and accurately. Please use this proof only for checking the typesetting, editing, completeness and correctness of the text, tables and figures. Significant changes to the article as accepted for publication will only be considered at this stage with permission from the Editor. It is important to ensure that all corrections are sent back to us in one communication. Please check carefully before replying, as inclusion of any subsequent corrections cannot be guaranteed. Proofreading is solely your responsibility.

#### Offprints

The corresponding author will, at no cost, receive a customized Share Link providing 50 days free access to the final published version of the article on ScienceDirect. The Share Link can be used for sharing the article via any communication channel, including email and social media. For an extra charge, paper offprints can be ordered via the offprint order form which is sent once the article is accepted for publication. Both corresponding and co-authors may order offprints at any time via Elsevier's Webshop. Corresponding authors who have published their article gold open access do not receive a Share Link as their final published version of the article is available open access on ScienceDirect and can be shared through the article DOI link.

#### AUTHOR INQUIRIES

Visit the Elsevier Support Center to find the answers you need. Here you will find everything from Frequently Asked Questions to ways to get in touch. You can also check the status of your submitted article or find out when your accepted article will be published.

> © Copyright 2018 Elsevier | https://www.elsevier.com

Appendix B: Ethical Approval Letter <u>Ethical Approval Letter – 5<sup>th</sup> October 2018</u>



Life Sciences and Education

#### ETHICAL APPROVAL FEEDBACK

Researcher name:	Taryn Talbott
Title of Study:	Exploring individuals' experiences of body modification and self- harm: is there a relationship?
Status of approval:	Approved

Thank you for addressing the committee's comments. Your research proposal has now been approved by the Ethics Panel and you may commence the implementation phase of your study. You should note that any divergence from the approved procedures and research method will invalidate any insurance and liability cover from the University. You should, therefore, notify the Panel of any significant divergence from this approved proposal.

You should arrange to meet with your supervisor for support during the process of completing your study and writing your dissertation.

When your study is complete, please send the ethics committee an end of study report. A template can be found on the ethics BlackBoard site.

R. Maem

Signed: Dr Roozbeh Naemi

Date: 05.10.2018

Ethics Coordinator School of Life Sciences and Education

## Appendix C: Interview Schedule

Safety Information (Emergency contact details

Demographic Information

- Where did you hear about the project? (BM or SH recruitment location)
- Age
- Gender

#### Interview

- 1. Tell me about your body modifications?
  - a. What are they? (tattoos, piercings etc?)
  - b. How many have you got?
  - c. Where are they?
  - d. Where did you get them done? (professional or done themselves)
  - e. Why did you get them? (any cultural factors?)
  - f. When did you get them?
  - g. When did you get your first BM?
  - h. When was the most recent?
  - i. Any more planned?
- 2. How do you feel about your body modifications?
  - a. How did you feel when you first got them?
  - b. Has that changed?
  - c. How do you feel about them now?
  - d. How did you feel just before you got it (most recent BM)?
  - e. How did you feel immediately afterwards?
  - f. What were you thinking just before you got it?
  - g. What were you thinking just afterwards?
- 3. Tell me about your experiences of self-harm?
  - a. When did it start?
  - b. Do you still self-harm?
  - c. Why do/did you self-harm?
  - d. How do you feel about self-harming? (do you wish you could stop? Do you find it a useful coping strategy?)
  - e. How do you self-harm? (cutting, burning etc)
  - f. Has the method of self-harm you use changed over time? i. Why?
    - I. VVIIY:
- 4. How do/did you feel about self-harm?
  a. How do/did you feel just before self-harming?
  - b. How do/did you feel immediately afterwards?
  - c. What thoughts do you have just before?
  - d. What thoughts do you have immediately afterwards?
- 5. Does the SH change when you get a BM?
  - a. how?
  - b. In what way?

PROMPTS: Can you tell me more about that? What do you mean by [...]?

Appendix D: Cover Letter for Mental Health Support Charities Dear \_\_\_\_\_

I am a Trainee Clinical Psychologist in my final year at Staffordshire University. As part of the course I am doing a research project exploring people's experiences of body modifications (e.g. tattoos, piercings, scarification and sub-dermal implants) and self-harm.

I am writing to you as your organisation offers support to people who have experiences of self-harm/ offers support to people with experience of mental health difficulties, which may include self-harm. I am looking to contact people with experience of **both** body modification and self-harm for an interview about their experiences. I would be grateful if you could assist me with this by displaying the attached/included poster in your centre and/or on your website. You will not be expected to do anything else to assist with the project. Interviews can be conducted via Skype if someone is unable to travel to Staffordshire University.

The study has received ethical approval from Staffordshire University.

I am happy to answer any questions you, or any potential participants, may have about the study. Please contact me on: t025083g@student.staffs.ac.uk

Yours faithfully,

Taryn Talbott

Appendix E: Cover Letter for Body Modification Organisations Dear \_\_\_\_\_

I am a Trainee Clinical Psychologist in my final year at Staffordshire University. As part of the course I am doing a research project exploring people's experiences of body modifications (e.g. tattoos, piercings, scarification and sub-dermal implants) and self-harm.

I am writing to you as you provide body modification services for people in the local area. I am looking to contact people with experience of **both** body modification and self-harm for an interview about their experiences. I would be grateful if you could assist me with this by displaying the attached/included poster in your shop and/or on your website. You will not be expected to do anything else to assist with the project.

The study has received ethical approval from Staffordshire University.

I am happy to answer any questions you, or any potential participants, may have about the study. Please contact me on: <u>t025083g@student.staffs.ac.uk</u>

Yours faithfully,

Taryn Talbott

Appendix F: Recruitment Poster
PARTICIPANTS NEEDED



Do you self-harm? Have you self-harmed in the past?

Do you have any tattoos, piercings (except ear lobe piercings) or other body modifications? Or have you had these before?

I am interested in finding out about people's experiences of self-harm and body modifications.

If you have experience of <u>both</u> self-harm and body modifications, are aged between 18 and 45 and would be willing to talk about your experiences, I would love to hear from you. You can take part in person, by phone, or by using video calling or instant messaging.

Unfortunately, you cannot take part if you are currently an inpatient in hospital, or are too physically or mentally unwell to take part.

You will be offered a shopping voucher to thank you for volunteering your time and taking part in this study.

Please contact Taryn Talbott on <u>t025083g@student.staffs.ac.uk</u> for more information.

## Appendix G: List of Organisations Contacted for Recruitment

- One local self-injury support charity
- Three internet based self-harm support communities
- 12 local body modification organisations
- The Tattoo and Piercing Industry Union (asking tattoo artists & piercers to display a poster promoting the study in their premises)
- Four local mental health charities
- One non-local self-injury support charity (it was planned to contact more, but this was not necessary as sufficient numbers of participants were recruited from other sources)
- One non-local mental health charity (it was planned to contact more, but this was not necessary as sufficient numbers of participants were recruited from other sources)
- Study specific social media page
- Ten social-media based self-harm support communities
- Six body modification social media pages

## Appendix H: Information Sheet

# **Participant Information Sheet (PIS)**

**Study title:** Exploring individuals' experiences of body modification and self-harm: is there a relationship?

#### Invitation and brief summary

Previous research has looked at why people get body modifications such as tattoos and piercings. Research has also looked at why people harm themselves.

Some people think that there may be a relationship between the reasons for getting body modifications and self-harm, but this has not been researched yet.

This study aims to investigate if there is a relationship between body modification and self-harm, and, if there is a relationship, what this relationship is like.

You have been invited to take part in this study as you have said that you have experience of both self-harm and body modification. You have also said that you are willing to talk about your experiences with the researcher.

## What's involved?

<u>Explanation: purpose of and background to the research and invitation</u> Many people in the UK engage in self-harm behaviour. Other researchers have done studies looking at the reasons people give for engaging in selfharm behaviour and body modification behaviour. Some similarities between self-harm and body modifications have been talked about in academic papers, but no-one has yet looked at the relationship between them.

We aim to conduct interviews with between eight and twelve people about their experiences of body modification and self-harm and any relationships between them.

## What would taking part involve?

After reading this information sheet you will be able to ask the researcher any questions you have about taking part in the study. When you are happy with the answers to your questions you will be asked whether you would like to take part in the study or not. You will have at least 24 hours, or as much time as you need, to decide if you want to take part.

If you choose to take part in the study you will be asked to sign a consent form to confirm that you are willing to take part.

You do not have to take part in this study. If you choose to take part and then change your mind, you can stop taking part in the study (withdraw from the study) until [date]. Unfortunately, we will not be able to remove your information from the study after this date as the researcher will have started looking at it to see if there are any relationships mentioned. Please let the researcher know if you wish to stop taking part.

You will then arrange a time and place to speak to the researcher to complete an interview to answer some questions about your experiences of body modification and self-harm. This will usually be face-to-face, but you might agree to have the interview with the researcher by telephone or using video calling (e.g. Skype) or instant messaging (e.g. Skype instant messenger, Facebook messenger or WhatsApp). If you complete an interview by telephone or using video calling or instant messaging you will be asked for some extra information (your full name, the town or city that you live in and an emergency contact number) so that emergency services can be contacted if the researcher has serious concerns about your safety. This information will not be linked with what you say in the interview and will only be used if the researcher is very concerned for your safety.

When you speak to the researcher, they will ask you to complete a short questionnaire about yourself. This may include questions about your age, your gender, your race or cultural background and your religion. The researcher will then ask you some questions about your experiences of selfharm and body modification. This will probably take about an hour, but it may take longer if you have a lot of experiences that you wish to share.

This conversation will be audio recorded (tape recorded) so the researcher can look back at what you say. If you complete the interview using instant messaging the words that you type during the interview will be saved into a word processing document so the researcher can look back at what you said. The information you provide when you talk to the researcher will be looked at with the information that other people provide when they talk to the researcher.

## What are the possible benefits of taking part?

You will probably not benefit directly from this study, but you may like sharing your experiences of self-harm and body modification. A lot of people tell us that they like sharing their experiences as they may not have had a chance to talk to somebody about their experiences in this way before.

This area has not been looked at by researchers before so you will help to increase our knowledge in the area of self-harm and body modification.

#### What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

Some people may find talking about their experiences upsetting.

Some people may find that taking part in this study might cause emotional distress and anxiety. If this happens you will be signposted to sources of support and will be given a letter with details of organisations that can support you.

We do not anticipate that there are any other disadvantages of taking part.

## Further supporting information

## What if something goes wrong?

If you find it upsetting to talk about your experiences, you can contact The Samaritans by telephone on: 116 123 (this number is free to call from all phones), or by email: <u>jo@samaritans.org</u>

If you wish to speak to other people who have experience of self-harm, you could access the National Self Harm Network Forum at <a href="http://www.nshn.co.uk/">http://www.nshn.co.uk/</a>

You can also talk to your GP about any concerns you have. They will be able to refer you to other services if they feel you need extra support.

## What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

If you don't want to carry on with the study please let the researcher know. If you want to remove your information, please let us know by [date]. Unfortunately we will not be able to remove your information from the study after this date as the researcher will have started looking at it to see if there are any relationships mentioned.

## How will my information be kept confidential?

Everything you say will be kept confidential within the research team. This means that we will not tell anyone else what you say. If you say something that makes us worry about your safety, or the safety of someone else, we might have to tell someone so that you can get the support that you need. We will try to tell you before we do this.

Your name and any information you mention in your interview that could be used to identify you, such as the name of your street or town, will be removed. You will be given a unique identification code that you can use to let the researcher know if you want your information removed from the study.

The information you provide will be stored electronically (on computers). This will be kept secure by using passwords to protect your information. Some of your information will be kept on paper. This information will be stored in a locked filing cabinet at Staffordshire University to keep it secure.

In line with Staffordshire University's Research Data Management Policy the information gathered in this study will be stored for 10 years after the study has finished.

#### What will happen to the results of this study?

The information from everyone that takes part in this study will be looked at together to see if any relationships between body modification and self-harm are talked about. When this has been done the findings from the study will be written up as part of the work needed for the researcher to complete their Doctorate in Clinical Psychology. The results of the study might also be written up and published in an academic journal so that other researchers can see what was found.

When the results are written up anything that could be used to identify you will be removed or changed.

#### Who has reviewed this study?

This study has been reviewed by the Staffordshire University Ethical Review Committee.

#### Further information and contact details

If you would like further information about the study you can contact the researcher by emailing: <u>t025083g@student.staffs.ac.uk</u>.

You can also contact the researcher's supervisors Helena Priest (<u>H.M.Priest@staffs.ac.uk</u>) and Ken McFayden (<u>K.McFadyen@staffs.ac.uk</u>)

Version control

Appendix I: Protocol for Responding to Participant Distress (Kasket, 2009a). Adapted Version for Instant Messaging

# Protocol for Responding to Participant Distress, Adapted Version for Instant Messaging

Notes: This protocol for responding to research participant distress has been adapted from the one devised by Cocking (2008). Adaptations have been made to reflect the fact that interviews for the above-named research project will take place over the telephone rather than face to face.

Dr. Elaine Kasket, the researcher, is a chartered Counselling Psychologist and has experience in managing situations where distress occurs. Due to the nature of the questions (i.e., focusing on aspects of the participants' mourning/memorialisation processes 6+ months post bereavement), it is not expected that extreme distress will occur, nor that the relevant action will become necessary.

## Steps taken prior to commencement of interview questions:

- 1) Interview questions will have been given to the participant in advance so that the participant can acclimate to the idea of these questions being asked.
- 2) First and last name of participant and town/city of current residence will be sought, in order to facilitate contacting emergency services if necessary.
- 3) Emergency contact number will be obtained from participant. Participant will be informed that if researcher has significant concerns about the participant's or others' safety, and/or if the telephone conversation is terminated in the context of severe distress, the researcher may need to use this emergency contact.
- 4) Appropriate helpline(s) in each participant's area will be identified by researcher (using list of links on http://www.befrienders.org/helplines/helplines.asp?c2=USA) in order to be able to offer participants immediate further sources of support if distress arises in interview.

## Mild distress:

## Signs to listen out for:

- 1) Sounds that indicate participant may be weeping, e.g., sniffling, hesitation
- 2) Voice becomes choked with emotion/ difficulty speaking / tremulous voice
- 3) Verbal signals such as "This is really hard for me to talk about," or "I didn't realise it would affect me so much to talk about it".

## Action to take:

- 1) Ask participant if they are okay to continue
- 2) Offer them time to pause and compose themselves
- 3) Remind them they can stop at any time they wish if they become too distressed

## Severe distress:

#### Signs to listen out for:

- 1) Uncontrolled crying/ wailing, heaving sobs, inability to talk coherently
- Expressions of strong feelings of personal guilt about the death or participant's behaviour to person in life, accompanied by obvious emotional distress
- 3) Signs of high anxiety or panic attack, as heard by researcher and/or as reported by participant, e.g., hyperventilation, shaking

#### Action to take:

- 1) The researcher will intervene to terminate the interview/experiment.
- 2) The debrief will begin immediately
- 3) Relaxation techniques will be suggested to regulate breathing/ reduce agitation
- 4) The researcher will acknowledge participants' distress, and reassure them that bereavement can be very traumatic and can sometimes result in traumatic stress reactions.
- 5) If any unresolved issues arise during the interview, accept and validate their distress, but suggest that they discuss with mental health professionals and remind participants that this is not designed as a therapeutic interaction.
- 6) Offer details of counselling/therapeutic/helpline services available to participants (see point 4 under "Steps taken prior to commencement of interview questions", above).

## Extreme distress:

#### Signs to listen out for:

- 1) Severe agitation, lack of coherence, especially coupled with sudden termination of telephone connection.
- 2) Verbal indications of suicidality, especially coupled with sudden termination of telephone connection.

## Action to take:

- 1) If termination of telephone connection has occurred, attempt to re-contact. If this is unsuccessful, and termination occurred *in the context of a level of agitation or emotionality that caused the researcher concern for the participant's or others' safety*, inform emergency contact and/or local emergency services.
- 2) If the researcher has concerns for the participant's or others' safety and the participant is still on the line, she will inform them that she has a duty to inform the emergency contact provided and/or local emergency services.
- 3) If the researcher believes that either the participant or someone else is in immediate danger and the participant is still on the line, then researcher will suggest that they present themselves to nearest emergency room, and contacting the emergency contact may also be necessary.

## Adapted from © Chris Cocking, London Metropolitan University Nov 2008

Appendix J: Protocol for Responding to Participant Distress (Kasket, 2009b). Adapted Version for Telephone/Skype

# Protocol for Responding to Participant Distress, Adapted Version for Telephone/Skype

Notes: This protocol for responding to research participant distress over the telephone has been adapted from the one devised by Cocking (2008). Adaptations have been made to reflect the fact that interviews may not always take place face to face.

## Steps taken prior to commencement of interview questions:

- 1) Consider giving questions to the participant in advance so that the participant can acclimate to the idea of these questions being asked.
- 2) Seek the first and last name of participant and the town/city of current residence, in order to facilitate contacting emergency services if necessary.
- 3) Obtain emergency contact number from the participant. The participant should be informed in the informed consent that if the researcher has significant concerns about the participant's safety, and/or if the telephone conversation is terminated in the context of severe distress, the researcher may need to use this emergency contact.
- 4) Appropriate helpline(s) in each participant's area should be identified by the researcher in order to be able to offer participants immediate further sources of support if distress arises in an interview.

## Mild distress:

## Signs to listen out for:

- 1) Sounds that indicate participant may be weeping, e.g., sniffling, hesitation.
- 2) Voice becomes choked with emotion, or the participant has difficulty speaking or has a tremulous voice
- 3) Verbal signals such as "This is really hard for me to talk about", or "I didn't realise it would affect me so much to talk about it".

## Actions to take:

- 1) Ask participant if they are okay to continue
- 2) Offer them time to pause and compose themselves
- 3) Remind them they can stop at any time they wish if they become too distressed

## Severe distress:

#### Signs to listen out for:

- 1) Uncontrolled crying/ wailing/heavy sobs, inability to talk coherently
- 2) Expressions of strong feelings of personal guilt or responsibility for a negative event or harm to others (if applicable to topic)

3) Signs of high anxiety or panic attack, as heard by researcher and/or as reported by participant, e.g., hyperventilation, shaking

## Actions to take:

- 1) The researcher should intervene to terminate the interview
- 2) The debrief will begin immediately
- 3) Relaxation techniques will be suggested to regulate breathing and reduce agitation
- 4) The researcher should acknowledge the participant's distress, and reassure him/her that (for example, according to topic) the experience that they're describing can be quite traumatic or difficult and can sometimes result in traumatic stress reactions.
- 5) If any unresolved issues arise during the interview, accept and validate the participant's distress, but suggest that s/he discuss with mental health professionals and remind the participant that this is not designed as a therapeutic intervention.
- 6) Offer details of counselling/therapeutic/helpline services available to participants (see point 4 under "steps taken prior to commencement of interview questions", above)

# **Extreme distress:**

## Signs to listen out for:

- 1) Severe agitation, lack of coherence, especially coupled with sudden termination of telephone connection.
- 2) Verbal indications of suicidality, especially coupled with sudden termination of telephone connection.

## Action to take:

- 1) If termination of telephone connection has occurred, attempt to re-contact. If this is unsuccessful, and termination occurred *in the context of a level of agitation or emotionality that caused the researcher concern for the participant's or others' safety*, inform emergency contact and/or local emergency services.
- 2) If the researcher has concerns for the participant's or others' safety and the participant is still on the line, s/he will inform them that s/he has a duty to inform the emergency contact provided and/or local emergency services.

If the researcher believes that either the participant or someone else is in immediate danger and the participant is still on the line, then the researcher will suggest that the participant presents him- or herself to the nearest Accident & Emergency department, and it may also be necessary for the researcher to contact the emergency contact.

## © Elaine Kasket, London Metropolitan University, August 2009, as adapted from distress protocol authored by © Chris Cocking, London Metropolitan University, November 2008

#### Appendix K: Consent Form Participant Identification Number for this study:

## **CONSENT FORM**

Title of Project: Individual's experiences of body modification: relationships to self-harm Name of Researcher: Taryn Talbott

- 1. I confirm that I have read the information sheet dated...... (version.......) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.
- 2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.
- 3. I understand that I can ask for my data to be removed from the study until [date] by contacting the researcher with my Participant Identification Number
- 4. I understand that my interview will be audio recorded. If completing the interview using instant messaging, I understand that the words I type during the conversation will be saved into a word processing document.
- 5. I understand that this research may be published in an academic journal. All the information that I provide will be anonymised so I cannot be identified.
- 6. I agree to take part in the above study.

Name of Participant	Date	Signature
Name of Person	Date	Signature
taking consent		

Please initial box

Г		
L		

Г			

L		
L		

Г

Appendix L: Debrief Sheet
Dear \_\_\_\_\_

Thank you for taking part in this interview and sharing your experiences of self-harm and body modification.

The information you have shared will be made anonymous (anything that could be used to identify you will be removed or changed) so that you cannot be identified. It will be combined with the information other people have shared and will be looked at together to see if any relationships between body modification and self-harm are talked about.

The results will be written up as part of the work needed for the researcher to complete their Doctorate in Clinical Psychology. The results of the study might also be written up and published in an academic journal so that other researchers can see what was found.

If the conversation we have had about your experiences has made you feel upset you can contact The Samaritans by telephone on: 116 123 (this number is free to call from all phones), or by email: <u>jo@samaritans.org</u>

If you wish to speak to other people who have experience of self-harm, you could access the National Self Harm Network Forum at <a href="http://www.nshn.co.uk/">http://www.nshn.co.uk/</a>

You can also talk to your GP about any concerns you have. They will be able to refer you to other services if they feel you need extra support.

If you want to remove your information from the study, please let the researcher know by 5<sup>th</sup> April 2019. Unfortunately the researcher will not be able to remove your information from the study after this date as they will have started looking at it to see if there are any relationships mentioned.

If you would like to receive a summary of the findings of this research, please contact the researcher using the details below and they will be happy to send this to you once the results have been written up.

If you have any questions regarding this study, please feel free to ask the researcher or research supervisors at this time or by using the contact details below.

Thank you again for sharing your experiences with me.

Taryn Talbott T025083g@student.staffs.ac.uk

Research Supervisors: Helena Priest: <u>H.M.Priest@staffs.ac.uk</u> Ken McFayden: <u>K.McFadyen@staffs.ac.uk</u>

Pseudonym	Age	Recruitment Source	Participation	General Location	Interview Length	Currently	Type of BMs	Form of SH
			method		(HH:mm)	Self-harming		
Alice	18	Facebook (poster	WhatsApp	West Midlands UK	02:45	No	Tattoos	Cutting
		shared)						
Clare	19	Facebook (Support	WhatsApp	North East UK	02:57	No	Tattoos, Piercings	Cutting, Restricting
		Group page)						food
Emma	30	Facebook (Study	Facebook	South West UK	03:20	No	Tattoos	Cutting, Hitting self
		page)	messenger					
Fay	25	NSHN Forum	WhatsApp	South West UK	03:31	No	Tattoos	Burning, Cutting
Daisy	30	Facebook (poster	Facebook	South West UK	01:55	No	Tattoos, Piercings	Cutting
		shared)	messenger					
Becky	23	Local Charity	WhatsApp	West Midlands UK	03:27	No	Tattoos, Piercings	Burning, Cutting,
								Restricting food
Grace	30	Facebook (poster	WhatsApp	South West UK	02:15	No	Piercings	Cutting, Hair pulling
		shared)						
Imogen	45	Facebook (Support	Phone	North East UK	01:05	Yes	Tattoos	Cutting, Hitting self
		Group page)						

Appendix M: Table showing demographic and descriptive information about the participants

Table 1: Demographic and descriptive information about the participants

# Appendix N: Evidence of Analysis Process

	BM as coping Strategy	Bilts as way of corpling	305. 306.	But with every other time I've had a tattoo and/or piercing. All that goes and I see life more clearly.	When has BM, Symptoms/fallings go away & she is able to manage.											
			207													
			307.	I : On no! I'm sorry to hear about your grandad. How is he now?												
			308.	B: He's fine :) he was annoyed for a week because he couldn't go to his												
			309.	allotments to get a break from my nan lol and annoyed at himself for not												
			310.	checking his gears. But he's fine :) thank you for asking 🛞												
			311.	T: Lol, bless him!												
			312.	T: Just thinking about what you said about being able to visibly see things												
			313.	healing how does that help?	2- + meatrai											
	Physical +	physical physical pain	mentral vs	mentral vs	mentral vs	mentral vs	mentral vs	mentral vs	mentral vs	mentral vs	mentral vs	mentral vs	mentral vs	314.	B: I think it helps in a way for me because I see that technically it's wounded at	wounds Associates them with each
	mental		315.	the moment. Like when I get them, my mental health is. But I see the tattoos	other. Completes ruem/associates ruem. Cen see the physical wounds healing/											
			316.	and piercings getting better in time and I know that in time. So will my mental	alting better so isnows must rearred wounds will too											
			317.	health. Sometimes with tablets. Sometimes without tablets. It depends how												
			318.	hard I hit rock bottom Most of the time whether I'm on or not on tablets.												
BM	BM as coping	BAS is my	319.	Tattoos and piercings will always help me to heal. We are all like tattoos and	tattoos & piercings help her to head. Poes wit foresee a time when Mis											
	Duranegy	8 . A. "J	320.	piercings. We all use different stuff to help with the healing whether it's savlon.	prours indus between healing of BMS											
			321.	Salt water. Bepanthen witchhazel. Or even let it heal on its own. But in the end.	and healing of emotional workings that we all esperience.											

			MI have own coping reductions.
	322.	We almost all heal with our own coping mechnisims.	
	323.	T: That's a really nice way of looking at it 🙂	
	324.	T: Sounds like you draw parallels between the healing that's going on outside	
	325.	and the healing that's going on inside?	
	326.	B: That's the best way of putting it! I've tried to explain to other people of how $i$	
	327.	do it. But end up getting frustrated and telling them go away because they don't	
	328.	understand the way I try explain it haha. I sound really mean there. But I don't	
	329.	try to be.	
	330.	But yeah, everybody heals. Now this is going sound so horrible but I don't mean	Everyone weaks in the rown way.
	331.	it to. Everybody heals in their own way. Whether it's tattoos and piercings	BMS as SM coping mechanism
8 M as alternative 3 Ms as SH	332.	(which I'm glad that's my self harm coping mechanism)	There is brown of SH, bit all
חכ סז	<sub>∮</sub> 333.	Some people overdose.	opping wechanisms
	334.	Some people self harm as in cuts. Burns anorexia, bulimia etc	
	* 335.	Some people commit suicide because they don't see no way out of it.	
SH as coping SH as copin	336.	But people have their very own mechanisms. It's how we deal with things :)	
Smakegy mechanism	337.	T: Mmhmmm	
	338.	Т: Үер	

 $\frown$ 

Appendix O: List of Superordinate and Sub-Ordinate Themes **Coping Strategies** 

- 1. SH as Coping Strategy
  - a. SH as Protective
  - b. SH to express/manage emotions
- 2. BM as Coping Strategy
- 3. Trauma
- 4. Alternative Coping Strategies Failed
- 5. Pain
- 6. Distraction
- 7. Physical & Mental
  - a. External Pain Reflects Internal Pain
  - b. Physical & Mental Pain
  - c. Physical & Mental Healing
- 8. Meaning of Tattoos
  - a. Memorial Tattoos/Loss
  - b. Religion/Spirituality
- 9. Planned vs Unplanned

#### **BM as Protective**

- 1. BM as alternative to SH
- 2. Indirect Pain
- 3. Money
- 4. Perceptions of Others
- 5. BMs/Tattoos as Protective
- 6. BMs as Positive
  - a. Mood Improvement
  - b. Tattoos covering/hiding scars

Paper three: Executive Summary

# Experiences of Body Modification in Women with Experience of Self-Harm.

Word Count: 1491

This report is a summary of a research study looking at the experiences of body modification (piercings and tattoos) in UK women with experience of self-harm behaviours. The research looked at how these women made sense of the links between self-harm behaviours and body modifications. This report talks about what is already known about these topics, then how the study was done, what was found, and what this means.

#### What do we already know?

Earlier research has found that self-harm behaviour is linked with a range of mental health difficulties. Self-harm behaviours are linked to a higher risk of suicide. Selfharm behaviour is more common in young adults, especially women. Some people use self-harm behaviour to cope with painful feelings. Self-harm behaviour can be used as a way of telling other people about these feelings.

Self-harm behaviours are similar to body modifications (piercings and tattoos) in some ways. Both self-harm behaviours and body modifications are common in women and younger people. Both self-harm behaviours and body modifications cause damage to the body in some way.



Photo credit: Lucie Turner<sup>1</sup>

The current advice for coping with self-harm behaviours is that people who use selfharm behaviours could try different, less harmful, ways of doing this if they do not feel that they can stop the self-harm behaviour at the moment. The advice suggests trying things like pinching, squeezing ice or drawing on the skin. Some researchers think that body modifications might be used in place of self-harm behaviours.

#### Why do this study?

There has not been much research looking at self-harm and body modification behaviours together. The research that has been done has found that for some people who self-harmed by cutting, they stopped this behaviour when they got body piercings. This might mean that the action of getting a piercing could replace the need to self-harm by cutting. So, getting a piercing could be a way to cope with

1. The owner of the copyright to the photo is not necessarily the subject of the photo. The subject of the tattoo is not a participant in this research.

upsetting feelings. That research did not look at why people got the piercings or how they felt about them.

This study wanted to find out how people who had experience of self-harm behaviours felt about getting body modifications. This study wanted to find out what these people thought about the links between these behaviours.

#### What happened?

A poster about the study was shared in groups on the social media site Facebook that offer support to people who use self-harm behaviours. A page about the study was set up on Facebook with a copy of the poster and more information about the study. Friends of the researcher shared the poster on their personal Facebook pages and on Twitter (another social media site). Mental health charities in the local area and across the UK were emailed and asked to put up a copy of the poster. A post was put on the 'Research Topics' board in the discussion forum on the website of the National Self-Harm Network.



Photo credit: Sarah Stockham<sup>1</sup> Eight women from across the UK took part in the study. They were between the ages of 18 and 45 years old. They talked about their feelings about body modifications and self-harm behaviours with the researcher. They also talked about any links they thought there were between these behaviours. Most of the

people that took part talked to the researcher using instant

messaging services like WhatsApp or Facebook Messenger. One person talked to the interviewer on the telephone. Each person talked to the interviewer once.

The researcher looked for important themes that came up in each talk. These were put together with the themes from other talks to make main themes. Themes that came up in lots of the talks might mean that lots of people have similar feelings about these topics. The main themes were linked with what psychologists already know about self-harm behaviours and body modifications.

1. The owner of the copyright to the photo is not necessarily the subject of the photo. The subject of the tattoo is not a participant in this research.

136

#### What was found?

Two main themes came out of the talks: Coping Strategies and Body Modifications as Protective.

#### Coping Strategies

"I was going through a lot of negative feelings and pain was something that gave me a nice feeling." – Emma

The women talked about using self-harm behaviours as a way of coping with their feelings. Some of the women said they got body modifications for the same reason. This was sometimes after they had experienced a very upsetting event. They said the self-harm behaviour was a way of controlling and coping with the pain they



Photo credit: Sarah Parkin<sup>1</sup>

137

felt and that it helped to take their minds off other things that were going on.

The themes showed there were some differences between body modifications and self-harm behaviours. The women said their body modifications, especially tattoos, had a meaning for them. They did not say that self-harm behaviours had a meaning. They said they usually thought about getting a body modification before they got one. They said the self-harm behaviour was more often carried out when they felt strong emotions. They did not usually plan to use self-harm behaviours.

## Body Modifications as Protective

"I thought I'd self harm but instead of it being cuts and people asking why I did it. I have people complimenting the art I have instead of judging the cuts" – Becky

1. The owner of the copyright to the photo is not necessarily the subject of the photo. The subject of the tattoo is not a participant in this research.



Most of the women said they got body modifications instead of using self-harm behaviours. Some people said getting body modifications meant that they felt they had less need to use self-harm behaviours to cope with their feelings.

Photo credit: Brett Barfield<sup>1</sup>

Most of the women said they had the same feelings when they got a body modification as they did when they used self-

harm behaviour. Some people said they got body modifications after they decided to stop using self-harm behaviours. These people said it was important that they could feel pain but not cause it themselves.

Getting body modifications might be different to using self-harm behaviours. Getting body modifications could help to lower the urges to use self-harm behaviours. Getting body modifications cannot be thought of as a replacement for self-harm behaviours as there are some differences. For example, people have to pay for body modifications but don't have to pay when they use self-harm behaviours.

The women said other people reacted in a better way to body modifications than they did to scars from self-harm behaviours. For some of the women the meaning of the body modifications was a reminder of things that were important to them or made them feel good. This might mean getting body modifications makes people feel like they need to use self-harm behaviours less often.

#### What does this mean?

These findings are important for people who work with people who use self-harm behaviours. If they can see a body modification, they could use this to talk about how the person was feeling when they got it. Getting a new body modification could be a sign that someone is feeling like they want to use self-harm behaviours. They should talk about this together to see if they need more help.



Photo credit: Sam Standerwick<sup>1</sup>

1. The owner of the copyright to the photo is not necessarily the subject of the photo. The subject of the tattoo is not a participant in this research.

#### Are there any problems with the study?

All the women said they had experiences of body modification and self-harm behaviours. This was not checked in any way. This might mean that different people were talking about different behaviours.

All the women said they used self-harm by cutting behaviours. Different self-harm behaviours were not talked about or were talked about less often. This might mean the findings from this study do not apply to different self-harm behaviours.

None of the people who took part in this study had more 'extreme' body modifications like scarification or sub-dermal implants. People who have these more 'extreme' body modifications might have different experiences to those who took part. This means some of the findings from this study might not apply to people with these body modifications.

## What next?



Photo credit: Emma Johnson<sup>1</sup> More research should be carried out in this area. All the people who took part in this study were women. They might have different experiences to men. More research should look at the experiences men have.

More research should look to see if the findings from this study apply to people with different forms of body modifications.

Other research should also look to see if the findings apply to people who use different types of self-harm behaviours.

#### How will this information be shared?

All the women who took part asked for a copy of this summary. This will be sent to them by email.

A copy of this summary will be posted on the Facebook page for the study. A copy will be posted on the National Self Harm Network website. The Facebook support groups will be contacted to check if they are happy for a copy of this summary to be posted on their page. A copy of the summary will be sent to the charities that

1. The owner of the copyright to the photo is not necessarily the subject of the photo. The subject of the tattoo is not a participant in this research.

139

helped to tell people about the study so they can share this summary with the people they support.

A written report about the study will be sent to an academic journal. If this is published this will mean other people working in this area will be able to see the findings.

140

<sup>1.</sup> The owner of the copyright to the photo is not necessarily the subject of the photo. The subject of the tattoo is not a participant in this research.